Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ymssp

#### Review

# Overview of recent advances of process analysis and quality control in resistance spot welding

### Kang Zhou<sup>a</sup>, Ping Yao<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> School of Mechatronical Engineering, Beijing Institute of Technology, Beijing 100081, China
<sup>b</sup> College of Electromechanical Engineering, Guangdong Polytechnic Normal University, Guangzhou 510635, China

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 July 2018 Received in revised form 19 November 2018 Accepted 26 January 2019

Keywords: Resistance spot welding (RSW) Quality analysis Process control Welding schedule

#### ABSTRACT

Resistance spot welding (RSW) is frequently employed in current industrial occasions. However, the process is multi-field coupled and highly nonlinear, and full of uncertainties and disturbances. This paper presents recent primary advances and progress in process analysis and quality control of the RSW operations. Online welding process analysis, and relative online quality estimation for the welding products, are very important because they can help to save energy and improve the efficiency during actual production. It should deeply interpret the process characteristics, and then reasonable relations between selected monitoring process variables, such as dynamic resistance or electrode displacement, and quality criteria, such as nugget size or tensile-shear strength, can be established. Apart from online process analysis using mathematical tools, using different kinds of auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors and intrinsic process variables to monitor the process and obtain the quality information of the weld is presented and discussed. Then various process control works are reviewed. Besides the various parameters optimization methods, kinds of controllers, including feedback controllers, intelligent controllers and comprehensive controllers which combined the online quality estimation and control strategy application together, for obtaining welds with satisfactory quality, are respectively discussed. It can be seen that the establishment of general models to online process analysis, quality estimation and real time control system design for obtaining welds with satisfactory quality still remains a big challenge in reality. This work can provide references and enlightens for current academic researches or actual production in RSW relative area.

© 2019 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	171	
2.	Online process analysis and quality estimation of the system		
	2.1. System modeling using mathematical tools	173	
	2.2. Auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors	176	
	2.3. Using intrinsic process variables to monitor the process	179	
3.	Welding process control	186	
	3.1. Parameters optimization	187	

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: zhoukang326@126.com (K. Zhou), ypsunny@163.com (P. Yao).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymssp.2019.01.041 0888-3270/© 2019 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







	3.2. Control process optimization	189
4.	Conclusion	194
	Acknowledgements	195
	References	195

#### 1. Introduction

Resistance spot welding (RSW) is extensively employed in joining sheet metal components, such as in the manufacturing of automobiles, trucks trailers, buses, recreational vehicles, office furniture and appliances, railway vehicles, airplane structures, aeronautical and space applications and many other products [1–5]. Especially in the automobile industry, over 90% of assembly work in a car body is completed by RSW [6]. The automotive structural assemblies use groups of spot welds to transfer load through the structure during a crash. Typically, a modern vehicle includes 2000–5000 spot welds [7]. These are the main reasons that the RSW is employed extensively currently. The main advantage of the RSW is that the process can be automated and robotized in high volume for high production rate operations. However, RSW process involves interactions between electromagnetic, thermal, mechanical, fluid flow and metallurgical phenomena across faying interfaces and so that is very complicated [8]. The process is difficult to properly control because the final weld quality is determined by interaction between various operational parameters and mechanical/electrical characteristics of the machine and equipment involved. In general, a modern automotive production line of high volume models produces approximately 7 million welds per day [9]. Hence, to ensure the integrity of the welded structure and improve the efficiency of the welding production, the recent advances of some important aspects during the RSW process, including online process analysis and monitoring, online non-destructive weld quality estimation and control system design to guarantee the high quality, are considered in this paper.

During the traditional RSW working process, two or more parent metal sheets are pressed together by electrode force, which is usually controlled by air pressure in the pneumatic cylinder, or servo actuator. After the parent metal sheets are fixed, external electrical energy is delivered into the welding system and the welding current goes through the parent metal sheets, then heat energy is initially generated at the interface of the metal energy due to contaminations and surface asperities, so that the interface has the largest resistances at the beginning of the process [10,11]. The amount of energy delivering into the welding system follows the commonly used energy generation equation:

$$Q = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} I^2(t) R(t) dt,$$
(1)

where *Q* denotes the energy delivered into the welding system in Joule,  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  respectively denote the beginning and terminating time of the welding action, I(t) is the welding current, R(t) is the total resistance between two electrodes, in general cases, the resistance of the welding load dominates the total resistance [12,13]. The heat energy makes the temperature of the parent metal increase and some solid metal melts, and then the liquid metal appears initially from the interface of the parent metal sheets. As more and more amount of energy delivered into the welding system, more solid is melted to form the liquid nugget. It can be seen that the RSW process is a metal absorbing energy followed by melting and solidification. The amount of heat depends on the applied welding current I(t), the material of the parent metal, which determines the resistance R(t), and the welding time t. As the temperature changing during the process, phase transition occurs in the parent metals. Hence, the resistance R(t) is a varying parameter, and called dynamic resistance, which can approximately denote the resistance of the welding load because the effects of other components can be ignored generally. When the amount



Fig. 1. Schematic of the RSW process.

the liquid nugget achieves a predetermined level, the external electrical energy delivery terminates, then the liquid nugget solidifies and the original separated parent metal sheets are joined together. Fig. 1 shows the schematic of the process.

In Fig. 1, the welding current is generated from a special electrical source of the RSW system. Actually, because the welding loads are sheet metal, their resistances have very small values, and the value of welding current is so large. During the process, the maximum value of the welding current depends on the capacity of the electrical system and the load resistance.

In addition to the above conventional RSW process, to meet the requirement of making welds on the auto-body floor, or welds that are located in closed-section parts that ordinary RSW gun cannot access, or some other new structures which the conventional RSW is not applicable, single-sided RSW has been developed to conduct the work [14,15]. Especially, it is frequently used in integrating the hydroformed tubes without flanges into vehicle body structures [16]. Using this RSW scheme, spot welds can be made using only single-sided access with or without a backing plate. Actual application of this modified process exhibits many special characteristics. Previous works have explored its characteristics using numerical simulations [16], actual experiments [17] or designed adaptive control algorithm [18]. As the single-sided RSW machine is approximately the same as the conventional RSW machine, it will not be separately discussed in following sections.

Moreover, the RSW process can be divided into small scale RSW and large scale RSW processes, according to different thickness of the metal sheets. The thickness in the small scale RSW is usually less than 0.2–0.5 mm, while the large scale RSW welds sheets of thickness greater than 0.6–0.8 mm. The small scale RSW was commonly used in the electronic components and devices. Currently, there is fewer literature dealing with small scale RSW than that of large scale RSW [19,20]. Because of different contact areas between the RSW processes, the small scale RSW has some different characteristics when compared to the traditional large scale RSW. For example, the magnitudes of electrode force, current density, heating rate and peak temperatures between the two kinds of RSW may be different [20–22]. However, because the two processes follow the same fundamental mechanism, basic operations, measurement and control process, cooling way of the electrodes, and other relative aspects, no further distinction will be discussed in this paper regarding large scale RSW and small scale RSW.

In general, there are two kinds of electrical source of RSW: single-phase AC power source and three-phase medium frequency DC power source both commonly applied in industry. Both of two sources are prevalently employed in reality. As they have different energy transmitting modes and can generate different effects during the process [23–25], they are used in different occasions [26]. However, no matter which power source is used to determine how much energy is delivered into the welding system, only one control parameter can be used during the process. This parameter is the firing angle of Silicon-Controlled-Rectifier (SCR) for single-phase AC power source and the duty cycle of Pulse-Width-Modulation (PWM) wave for three-phase medium frequency DC power source. Then the energy is delivered into the welding system through a step-down welding transformer in both of two types. In other word, it is a single input and single out (SISO) system. In addition, since the control actions in both types of power sources are conducted in the primary coil of the welding transformer, but the processes of metal melting and liquid nugget formation and growth occur in the secondary coil of the welding transformer, it is difficult to adjust the control action in real time according to the information of liquid nugget formation and growth. Because of the existence of the step-down welding transformer, it is a low-voltage-high-current circuit in the secondary coil, any tiny change in the secondary coil can induce a big fluctuation in the primary coil [27]. Moreover, there are a lot of uncertainties and disturbances, such as surface roughness or contaminations [28], poor fit-up condition [29], electrode wear [30,31], axial or angular misalignment [32,33], and so on. Even for the parent metal sheets from the same batch, the quality of the welds, such as tensile-shear strength or nugget size, may have large variations when the same welding schedule is conducted.

To overcome the drawbacks of uncertainties and variation of the weld quality and obtain the welds with high quality, the characteristics of RSW process should be thoroughly interpreted. Then corresponding measures can be taken to assure the stability of the process and consistency of welds quality. Many previous works considered the problems. A lot of scholars wanted to establish models to simulate the process, and then to explore the features and regular patterns. In addition, some auxiliary measuring signals from various external sensors, such as digital camera, acoustic microscopy or infrared camera, can also be introduced to monitor the process and relate the input variable and welding products. Also, some process variables were used to describe the process, in other works, they can be used to be sensors by means of mathematical tools. Moreover, based on the different concerns, some scholars took efforts to optimize the control variables or design various corresponding controllers so as to improve the weld quality during the process.

In this paper, some recent contributions and primary advances of process analysis and quality control in RSW operation will be reviewed. Section 2 will consider the online process analysis and online quality monitoring and estimation, which includes the process analysis using mathematical tools, and the online quality estimation using different auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors or intrinsic process variables obtained during the welding process. Section 3 will deal with the process control. The section includes the parameter and control process optimization of the RSW, and different kinds of controllers were presented to obtain the welds with satisfactory quality. The last section of this paper will be the concluding remarks and suggestions for the future works.

#### 2. Online process analysis and quality estimation of the system

The product of the RSW operation is the welds, and during the process solid metal sheets melt with the formation and growth of a liquid nugget. Following of the withdrawal of the external energy, the liquid nugget solidifies and then the original separated metal sheets are joined together. During the process, the melting phenomenon is completely enclosed

between the parent metal sheets, as a result, observation and measurement are strictly constrained. However, using proper methods to online observe the process and explore the variation of the metal sheets is very important in reality, because it can not only guarantee obtaining welds with satisfactory quality, but also avoid expulsion occurring, which is because the amount of liquid nugget is so large and the surrounding solid metal cannot hold it under the squeezing by the electrode force, the liquid nugget spills. Hence, for the one and only purpose of assuring the quality of the weld, the principle goal of RSW research has been to examine and control the process [34]. Traditionally, the tensile-shear strength of the weld can sufficiently present the joining quality. It is the most common quality estimation criterion in the previous works. However, measuring the tensile-shear strength is destructive and time-consuming and costly, and the method can only be done on a sample basis. In many works, nugget size, especially the nugget diameter, is also used as a quality estimator in realty, because it is closely proportional to the tensile-shear strength [32,35,36], and nugget diameter is specified in the handbook published by Resistance Welder Manufacturers' Association as an indicator of weld quality. Hence, a correlation between nugget size or nugget diameter and heat energy delivered into the welding system should be sought. The goal of online process analysis and quality estimation is to explore the correlation and seek the effects of input variables on the quality of the welding products. To achieve this goal, different tools and methods were employed.

To sufficiently understand the process and obtain the information of the weld, the review for previous works will focus on three aspects: 1. using mathematical tools to establish models to simulate the process; 2. using auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors to investigate the welding process; 3. using intrinsic process variables to monitor the process.

#### 2.1. System modeling using mathematical tools

The modeling of welding process relates to the materials characteristics and internal changes of the parent metal sheets. Due to the high nonlinearity of the process, using analytical method is very difficult. There was a very small number of works about using mathematical or physical analytical tool to analyze the resistance spot welding. One contribution [37], which was about expulsion exploration and prediction, established the analytical model to analyze how the expulsions occurred. According to the force equilibrium equations and relative analyses, the effective electrode force was considered the most important element to induce the expulsion. It can be observed that the analytical method is difficult to be employed to establish effective multi-field coupled models for RSW system and earn comprehensive achievements actually.

Finite element method (FEM) has frequently been employed to analyze the complex process, because it has more advantages in solving problems with large deformations and can be used for many kinds of engineering problems, especially with complex geometry and material combinations [38]. In addition, the results obtained from the FEM modeling could be useful



Fig. 2. Flow chart of the FEM program [40].

for clarification of the complicated nature of the interrelated electric, thermal, mechanical and physicochemical welding process, and be expected to facilitate proper control and improvement of the welding system [39].

Recently, a lot of works employed FEM to simulate the RSW process. The following reviewing contributions focused on various contributions using FEM calculating and analysis method. Generally, the RSW process can be considered as an electrical-thermal-mechanical coupled process, hence, the most significant work using FEM to analyze the RSW process is establishing appropriate models and then combining them so as to simulate the special process, based on the characteristics of RSW process. Due to the symmetric nature of the electrode and the parent metal sheets, a half or a quarter of the physical model was usually used to simplify the calculation. In order to quantitatively understand the effects of the different parameters, such as current density, welding time, sheet thickness and material, geometry or other conditions of electrodes, electrode force and current shunting, contact resistance and the nugget size at different cycles, Eisazadeh et al. [40] employed a commercial finite element code ANSYS to model the couplings between electrical and thermal phenomena and between the thermal and mechanical phenomena. The power source used single-phase AC type. The flow chart is shown in Fig. 2 [40].

Based on Fig. 2, the subroutine defines the squeezing cycle as a single load step and divides the welding time into 23 load steps. The APDL language was used to compute the nodal temperature distribution and updating of deformed geometrical information. The model was a half of the actual physical model for two dimensional (2D) analysis. To verify the reliability of the model, actual experiment, which used the same conditions with the FEM model, was conducted. Through measuring the actual nugget size, the result showed that a good agreement between calculated results and measured data for the nugget size. For example, the thicknesses of the molten zone were respectively 2.12 mm and 2.23 mm for the calculated and measured results. Also, the model can predict the temperature distribution and nugget size in the joint, and help to achieve an optimum parameters setting. This work can predict the temperature distribution and spot nugget size in different cycles, through adjusting the parameters, optimum setting of the welding parameters for the desired quality can be obtained. Hence, it has a significant active meaning for the academic research and actual production.

In addition, to investigate the heat and mass transport laws in the weld nugget, and then to reveal their evolution during the welding process, Li et al. [6] proposed a multi-physics coupled model to simulate the RSW process using a single-phase AC power source. According to the axisymmetric characteristics of the RSW operation, a simplified model in this work employed a 1/2 axisymmetric sub-model to analyze the electric characteristic, a 1/4 axisymmetric sub-model to do fluid dynamics analysis, and a 1/4 3D wedge-shaped sub-model to accomplish the magnetic field analysis. Then an incrementally coupled procedure was used in this work. The sequence was electrical analysis, 3D magnetic analysis and the fluid dynamic analysis, and at the holding phase, only the only the fluid dynamic analysis was employed. The model comprehensively considered the coupling of electric, magnetic, thermal and flow fields, and used the temperature-dependent physical properties and phase transformation to examine the RSW process. The commercial software ANSYS was employed. Combined calculations and relative analyses, the work obtained the relation between liquid metal moving features under the effect of magnetic field, and the heat transport pattern in different phases. The drawback was that because the induced magnetic field could not be removed from the real weld nugget formation process, the experimental methods did not have the capability to explore the difference of the welds with and without the induced magnetic field. Also, in their other contribution [41] which employed approximately the same simplified method, a magnetic fluid dynamic model was proposed to investigate the fluid flow and heat transfer behaviors in the liquid nugget. The model included a 2D asymmetrical electric-thermal-flow



Fig. 3. Metaphysics coupled model used in the work. (a) Schematic view of a RSW process, (b) 1/2 asymmetrical electric-thermal-flow model, (c) 3D wedge-shaped magnetic field model [41].

sub-model and a three dimensional (3D) wedge-shaped magnetic field sub-model, and comprehensively considered electric field, magnetic field, thermal field and fluid flow. The model can be shown in Fig. 3 [41].

The model was a little more complex than that of the preceding work [6]. Through corresponding calculation, some significant achievements had been gained, and the work showed that the effectiveness of Finite element model in simulating the magnetic fluid dynamic behavior in RSW process and predict the nugget growth. The members in the same group also provided a numerical analysis for single-sided RSW process used in sheet-to-tube joining [16], according to the simulation using ANSYS, they concluded that the electrode force was crucial to the formation and shape of the nugget, under the special conditions of the work, and modifying the electrode force during the process was a valid method for obtaining acceptable nugget, with less welding control cycle and energy delivery. The work provided a guided method for optimizing the parameters and improving the quality of the ring nugget for this special application.

Moreover, there were many relative works employing FEM models to do relative analyses, Chigurupati et al. [42] developed a coupled model, which included the thermal, mechanical, electrical and metallurgical sub-models, and used DEFORM™ to execute the simulation, and obtained that some critical process design variables, such as applied current, pressure, the welding time and hold time, had strong imparts on the quality of the final product. Vural's work [43] also employed a combined thermal-electrical-mechanical simulation system to study the formation of the welding nugget and the effect of welding process parameter on nugget shape and size. To explore phase transfer process and variation characteristics of weld pool of RSW for aluminum, Khan et al. [44] proposed a three-dimensional thermal model, and then obtained the effects of some welding parameters, such as welding current, faying surface electrical contact resistance, and electrode-workpiece thermal contact conductance, on the nugget and heat-affected-zone (HAZ) geometry. Also, the phase change morphology, including melting and solidification rates and weld pool dynamics, and the relations between nugget growth and the welding current and faying surface electrical contact resistance, were obtained. Nodeh et al. [45] employed an electro-thermo-mechanical model to predict electrical potential, temperature, residual stress distribution and their effects on the heat transfer and nugget formation during the different stage of the RSW process, and then the result of the model was compared with the actual measured residual stresses and observed a good agreement. The simulation results showed that the maximum tensile residual stresses were located at the weld center while they were reduced towards the nugget edge. In addition, Wei et al. [46] employed a model to investigate the phase change effects on transport processes in RSW, the work accounted for electromagnetic force, heat generations at the electrode-workpiece interface and faying surface between workpieces, and dynamic electrical resistance taking the sum of temperature-dependent bulk resistance of the workpieces and contact resistances at the faying surface and electrode-workpiece interface. The characteristics of phase change in the course of heating, melting, cooling and freezing were realistically and extensively studied by model computation, and the heat transfer rate, nugget growth in different directions, thermal conductivity between different phases, melting and solidification rates and specific heat ratio in phase change were also considered. In their other work [47], an approximate model and numerical procedures were employed to explore the workpiece property effects on nugget microstructure. The work focused on the nugget microstructure by studying the temperature gradient and solidification rate, and then some important conclusions which were relative to nugget initiation, heat fluxes, solidification rate in all of directions, morphology parameters, cooling rate were drawn.

Moreover, in addition to employ ANSYS and DEFORM<sup>™</sup> to execute the numerical simulation, other software tools are also used. To analyze and improve the structure design, some special elements in commercial Computer Aided Design (CAE) software tools, such as CWELD [48], ACM2 [49] and CHEXA elements [50] were employed. However, they can only be used in structure analysis instead of multi-field process analysis. As for process analysis, based on the principle of FEM, some professional software tools, such as SYSWELD [51] and SORPAS<sup>®</sup> [52,53], which integrated some welding operation relative functions, were also frequently used in reality. These integrated tools contained various electrode models, materials characteristics of some commonly employed workpieces, special welding schedules and some other relative tools. The meshing and quality evaluation tools may be included or excluded in the tools. Using these tools is more convenient because the designers did not spend time on the basic model establishment. However, they followed the principle of FEM, and should obtain the same results if the same model can be established by other software tools.

In this section, some typical previous works have been reviewed. It can be found that all of models used AC power source, which might be that the RSW process with single-phase AC power source was commonly explored by scholars and engineers previously. Because the medium frequency DC power source has a much steadier electrical delivery than of AC power source [27]. In addition, because of the cylindrical symmetry of RSW system, 2D model was used widely in majority of previous works only except [6,41,44], which used 3D models, due to the works [6,41] were to explore the characteristics of magnetic field, while the work [44] focused on the vibration of molten pool. It meant that in general cases, 2D model can denote majority of variation characteristics of the RSW process. Also, majority of numerical simulation employed 1/2, even 1/4 models to simplify the calculations because of its axisymmetric feature. Many preceding works employed thermal-electrical-mechanical coupled models. Some works used fluid models to explore the special characteristics [6,41]. By means of various numerical models, many important characteristics, such as temperature distribution, nugget size (width and thickness), fluid flow or heat transfer behavior, effects of some important parameters on weld quality, and so on. It can be found that the models had many common features, and followed the fixed rules.

In summary, according to review the previous works, FEM is a strong modeling tool to simulate the welding process and a lot of remarkable achievements have been obtained in recent years. Many scholars used it to explore the characteristics of



Fig. 4. (a) Waveforms of the mains voltage and welding current [28], (b) An actual measured welding current.

RSW process, and gained a lot of remarking achievements. Due to the complexity of the RSW process, integrated simulation required multi-field coupled calculations, and by means of these tools, many characteristics can be obtained, though some assumptions were made. However, the methods had some shortcomings in reality. Majority of contributions only focused on characteristics research of welding process and the effects of different parameters on the nugget formation and quality. Through examining the published contributions concerning FEM simulations, they have many assumptions, such as for the RSW process with single-phase AC power source, majority of simulations used the successive sinusoidal welding currents or root-mean-square (RMS) current as the electric input. In fact, the actual welding current is not true successive sinusoidal pattern and there is an idle, when there no welding current passes through the parent metal sheets, between two adjacent welding cycles [54], as shown in Fig. 4.

Fig. 4(a) shows the waveform of mains voltage and welding current during four successive control cycle or the RSW process with single-phase AC power source. In this figure,  $\alpha$  denotes the firing angle of the SCR,  $\theta$  denotes the conduction angle, which is also the duration when the welding current passes the parent metal sheets. The electrode voltage and the welding current have the same phase because the load only has the impedance. Fig. 4(b) is a welding current waveform collected from an actual welding experiments. The figure clearly shows that though the voltage waveform of the AC power is sinusoidal, the waveforms of actual electrode voltage and welding current are not sinusoidal and not successive actually. In addition, though the works provided the governing equations according to physical characteristics, the equations cannot sufficiently describe the phase change effect, which is very important during the welding process. Also, some important characteristics parameters, such as thermal conductivity, specific heat, density and thermal diffusively as functions of temperature and required in order to compute the temperature destitution, are not precisely provided for simulation in realty [1]. Based on these deficiencies, though the previous contributions obtained some prominent findings by means of FEM or other mathematical models after ingenious designs and obtained good agreements between simulation and experimental results, and the achievements were useful to study the principle and mechanism of the welding process, the numerical simulation procedures cannot be consistent with the actual welding process. Due to the actual welding process includes many disturbances and unexpected phenomena, such as mechanical or metallurgical uncertainties, or uncertainties in the surfaces of parent metal, even from the same batch, and so on, it can be concluded that the simulations in current works can only be an auxiliary mathematical analysis tool and is insufficient to use it to instruct the actual control operation and nondestructive tests (NDT) or relative designs. In other words, these tools cannot effectively be employed in occasions of quality inspection and control process design, and is expected to be improved in the future works.

#### 2.2. Auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors

Recently, a lot of external auxiliary sensors were employed to online monitor the welding process and collect chosen data to do further analysis, such as NDT. Direct measurement of tensile-shear strength and nugget size may cost more and have low efficiency, so that other methods which may be more efficient are required for time and cost saving [55,56]. In general, sensor monitoring is closely relative to the NDT and employed more in industrial production or academic research occasions. Some works focused on the online process monitoring or detection, while other works considered the post-weld test. However, the contents in this part only consider the external sensors which worked independently and mounted externally, and the signals focused on the auxiliary measuring signals, instead of intrinsic process variables, such as welding current and electrode voltage, though they are also collected by means of corresponding sensors. The intrinsic process variables will be mentioned in the next part.

The nugget formation and growth process relates to the metal melting and phase change. During the majority of RSW process, a mixture of solid metal and liquid nugget exists between upper and lower electrodes, and the liquid nugget is usually confined with the two solid parts and not exposed, only except when expulsion occurring, which should be avoided during the process. This characteristic was appealing for researchers and engineers to employ different external sensors to monitor the process. Cho et al. [57] used a digital high speed camera, a specially designed electrode tip and illumination system to visually monitor and observe the process of nugget formation, and then the results were compared with the dynamic

resistance monitoring. The work can only obtain an approximate results and give clues to research the process. An approximate similar work, which was conducted by Tan et al. [58], focused on the small scale RSW operation, and the workpieces were Ni sheets. This work employed the scanning electron microscope (SEM) offline collected the photo of the weld in the different welding time, and then corresponded to the dynamic resistance profiles in different stages. The work also showed that the beginning time of solid metal melting and the time when the maximum nugget formed of small scale RSW of Ni were different from those during large scale RSW of mild steel, due to the difference in electrode force and the resistivity of the parent metal. Due to there was a large resistivity difference between solid Ni and liquid Ni at the melting temperature, the solid to liquid phase change of Ni would subsequently increase the dynamic resistance during the nugget formation. Though the work did not directly consider the welding process, the various photos can be combined to approximately demonstrate the welding process. These works can examine the nugget formation mechanism and its relation to the process parameters.

Apart from using camera or special microscope, other more direct sensors were also employed to investigate the nugget formation and growth process. Karloff et al.'s work [59] presented an effective method of using acoustic reflections to monitor the signature of a spot weld. In the work, a series of A-scans through the cross-section of the weld during the welding process, which contained many reflections resulting from the various interfaces of the layered weld structure, were captured. Fig. 5 [59] shows the schematic of the work.

After plotted in gray scale and each *A*-scan was placed beside the next, the resulting *B*-scan image was formed and the different parts between two electrodes can be clearly identified by means of acoustic reflection technology. The figures in the work underwent special processing, such as identifying and removing interference, image enhancement of shifting reflection, and so on. Finally, the solid-liquid metal interface can be accurately identified and located, and the depth of liquid nugget penetration into the steel plates can be quiet accurately determined. The work can permit the accurate measurement of the thickness of the weld and help to improve the quality control. Another work, which also used the similar sensor technology, was conducted by Chertov et al. [60], to make offline quality evaluation. The work used the scanning acoustic microscopy (SAM) for the purpose of weld quality verification. In the work, a collimated ultrasonic beam was used to inspect the object, and the plane waves that are generated by a piezoelectric crystal were focused by a special acoustic lens. The specimen should be aligned along the plane perpendicular to the lens axis, and water was utilized as a couplant to allow the acoustic waves to travel from the transducer to the specimen and back. A schematic of the investigation of a spot weld is shown in Fig. 6 [60].

In Fig. 6, when the lens moved along the specimen, it emitted and received the waves at different positions above the weld. The position *A* and *C* denoted the boundaries of the weld joint, or no-weld regions, and the position *B* denoted the region of liquid nugget. Then the reflection may present different curves. After using microscopy examined the figures and corresponding analyses, the nugget size and shape, can be investigated, and the cracks, voids, or other discontinuities affecting the integrity of the weld, can also be discovered. It can be concluded that the SAM technology can not only be used in online process monitoring, but also in offline weld quality estimation. Similarly, Liu et al. [61] employed the ultrasonic echo signals to detect four types of stainless steel RSW specimens, which were failed weld, stick weld, defective weld with gas pore and good weld, and analyzed the characteristics respectively in time domain, frequency domain and time-frequency domain. Then the characteristics signals were automatically recognized and classified by back propagation (BP) neural network, and the accuracy of the classification and identification of defects reaches more than 96%. Hence, it is an effective method to serve the offline quality evaluation. Furthermore, other types of sound signals, such as acoustic emission and sonic emission signals, can also be used to estimate the weld strength, detect the expulsion appearing, and predict the electrode wearing in reported previous work [62], through establishing curve fitting relations between collected data of the signals and the measuring physical targets.

Also, the infrared (IR) thermography was used for the NDT for the spot weld. Chen et al. [63,64] developed a NDT system based on infrared thermography to evaluate the quality and integrity of the welds in automotive assembly structures. The



Fig. 5. (a) Source of reflected pulses in a weld, (b) Expected A-Scan through the cross section of the weld.



Fig. 6. Schematic of using SAM to inspect a spot weld specimen.

system can be used in both of real time inspection and post-weld inspection. It included an IR camera, a computer for image acquisition and analysis, an induction heating device (for post-weld inspection), and a pre-established weld quality database. The system required a special data processing algorithm to support the work. The schematic of the real-time and post-weld inspections is shown in Fig. 7 [63].

For the real-time inspection in Fig. 7(a), because the welding heat was related to the welding quality, the IR camera monitored the heat flow generated from the welding process. According to the schematic and the image in the work, the IR camera did not need line of sight to observe the nugget and the original image was collected from a lateral view. Then the corresponding IR image analysis algorithm can automatically and intelligently identify the real time "thermal signatures" extracted from the images collected by the IR camera, and then compared with the data in the database and determined the quality of weld instantaneously. On the other hand, for the post-weld inspection in Fig. 7(b), an additional induction heating unit was required to locally heat the as-welded region, and the IR camera was positioned on the other side of the weld to monitor the transmitted heat flow, which was different from that in the real-time inspection. Then through comparing the processed post-weld "thermal signatures" to the quality database, the nugget information, including the diameter, shape and thickness, can be quantitatively obtained. According to the results published in the work, the methods can obtain the contour of the nugget, and the distance should refer to whether the IR camera can detect the heat in reality. Also, the work presented the database establishing process, which included the offline destructive experiment and comparison between weld attributes and thermal signatures. The final experimental results showed that the accuracy of both realtime and post-weld inspection can achieve at ±0.5 mm, and the post-weld IR NDT can measure the nugget thickness with accuracy at ±0.1 mm, also, the nugget shape can be positively identified. In addition, in their previous other work [65], the correlation between weld quality and thermal signature of each weld can be established, and a finite element analysis was developed to simulate the heat flow during inspection. The thermal model can provide insight into the effect of the nugget size and indentation depth on the peak temperature and heating rate. Hence, the method had sufficient theoretical support and the application followed the thermal analysis. Moreover, other recent popularly employed sensor, which was lead zirconate titanate (PZT) transducer, was also used in NDT of post-weld of RSW production [66,67]. It used the principle of the



Fig. 7. Schematic of IR based weld NDT system: (a) real time system inspection, (b) post-weld inspection.



Fig. 8. Schematic principle of PZT-based quality estimation system [66].

failure of the spot welded joints and opening between the faying faces at the joints reduced the amplitude of the stress wave received by the PZT sensor. Fig. 8 [66] shows the schematic figure of the principle.

Using the principle, if the PZT sensor received an abnormal stress wave, it meant that the spot welded joints had bad quality, or the existence of opening deteriorated the contact quality. By means of FEM calculation, sensing system and digital image correlation system, the effect of PZT-based NDT method had been effectively validated.

In addition to above technologies to use auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors, magnetic signals were also employed to analyze the welding process and estimate the welding quality. Harada et al. [68] developed a RSW quality evaluation system using eddy current test (ECT). The measurement results from ECT can analyze the variation of internal structure of the spot welds, by means of the relations between frequency of current in induction coil, magnetic field strength and nugget formation process. Then through actual tensile-shear test of the workpieces, a good correlation between measured magnetic field strength and the tensile-shear load was found. Hence, the work indicates that the ECT can visualize the internal structure of the weld and do non-destructive test for the weld. Also, Tsukada et al. [69] employed the magnetic flux leakage to correlate the tensile-shear strength, which also showed that this magnetic signal can be expected to be a method for online monitoring of the spot welds. Moreover, Tsukada et al. [70] combined techniques of magnetic flux penetration and ECT for weld estimation and nondestructive test. In this work, the magnetic flux penetration through both upper and low surfaces of the workpiece was measured at low frequency, and the correlation between the shear strength of the workpiece and a calculated criterion which was derived from measured magnetic field intensity can be established. On the other hand, the ECT was performed at each surface with multiple frequencies, and the nugget depth profile can be obtained by means of the measured magnetic intensity map, according to analyze the features of the magnetic intensity map, the observed crosssectional microscopy and the characteristics of nugget formation. Hence, this combined technique was expected to be an effective method for online monitoring the welding process and do NDT for the RSW products. Above three works have the same corresponding author. Other reported work by Vértesy et al. [71] employed the magnetic hysteresis measurement method for inspection of RSW and do NDT. Though a good correlation between the result of destructive characterization and nondestructive magnetic descriptors was found, it also found that the signal was very weakly sensitive and still can be considered as a future possible practical application.

In summary, though there are many auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors employed to monitor the welding process or NDT, the signals can only include some limited information, and the majority of the applications were post-weld inspection or offline NDT, only few can be used in real time occasions. There are some drawbacks and limitations in their applications. The first is that proper setting the sensors is difficult, for instance, using ultrasound transmission, the sensors must be mounted on the metal sheets, which increases the cost and the complexity of the necessary equipment so as to limit the mass usage, and frequently mounting the sensors for each metal sheet is so time consuming. The second is that the quality of the signals transmission is affected by the welding environment. There are a lot of noises existing in production, which may seriously affect the accuracy of the signals, especially for sonic and sound signals, and the stress wave used in the PZTbased NDT method. In addition, the dirt and fumes produced during the welding process may corrupt the infrared signals, because it requires constant surface emission. Though some types of magnetic signals have been used in process analysis and NDT for the welds, the experimental platform was so complicate that various errors may be included, the measuring and analysis process included some uncertain elements, and the previous corresponding works only contained limited effective validating results. Furthermore, all of these signals should be transformed into the weld information, in other words, the results are indirect, which needs corresponding transformation algorithm and modeling to transform them. The design of the algorithm and establishment of the model need many offline experimental data and experiences, which may exist the limitation and not be able to apply in general cases, because the data and experiences may not be sufficiently general and comprehensive. After reviewing some relative contributions, it can be concluded that though they can be effective tools in some particular occasions and obtain useful information, their usages are limited in general occasions. Most of the applications can only be in laboratory and not able to be employed in mass industrial occasions. Some further improvements are required to be taken in order to make the auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors effectively utilize in actual production.



Fig. 9. Theoretical description of the signals, (a) Dynamic resistance; (b) Electrode displacement [74].

#### 2.3. Using intrinsic process variables to monitor the process

During the RSW process, many process variables can be obtained in real time, and then can be used for process analysis, online quality monitoring and evaluation, as well as the online process and quality controls. Though they are also collected by means of corresponding sensors, they directly reflect the internal variation of the RSW system and are different from the signals mentioned in the preceding part.

In practice, dynamic resistance and electrode displacement are two of the most commonly used signals to research the welding process, online evaluate or control the welding quality, because they can indirectly describe the internal characteristics variations of the parent metal sheets and provide significant data for evaluating nugget quality [72]. The internal characteristics variations include corresponding variation resulting from phase change, such as electrical resistivity, thermal conductivity, specific heat, density or thermal diffusivity [73], and morphology variation. Fig. 9 [74] shows the theoretical description of these two distinct and remarkable signals.

Fig. 9 shows the typical pattern of low carbon steel. Other special parent metal sheets, such as aluminum, may show different patterns. However, the low carbon steels have more stable physical characteristics and the curves can show a clearer and evident feature. According to the theoretical descriptions of these two signals, they obey the district laws during the RSW process. For the dynamic resistance, the initial value is very high because the resistance of various asperities, such as contaminants or oxides, between parent metal sheets, which is the contact resistance, is very high at this stage. Then as the electrode force squeezes the metal sheets, the asperities collapse and contact resistance sharply declines, which induces the resistance fiercely drop. As is energy delivering into the system, the temperature of the solid metal increases, which makes the resistance of metal sheets increase. As the temperature increases, solid metal melts and liquid nugget forms, and the distance between two electrodes decreases resulting from the electrode force, then the total dynamic resistance decrease. If the amount of liquid nugget is so large and the surrounding solid metal cannot hold it under the squeezing by the electrode force, the liquid nugget may spill, and expulsion occurs. On the other hand, for the electrode displacement, which is also the electrode indentation, the initial drop also results from electrode force bringing the metal sheets into closely contact and asperities collapse. Due to thermal expansion, the curve rises and then reaches its maximum value, then the curve drops because of the softening of the metal sheets. Also, expulsion can make the curve drop significantly. It can be seen that the two signals respectively have their unique characteristics during the process, which is the reason that they can be used to reflect the internal variation of the parent metal sheets. Apart from the theoretical analyses, the experimental observation results also support the applications of the signals during the process [5,75,76].

For dynamic resistance, different stages of nugget formation and growth process show different characteristics, which is useful to online estimate the nugget growth and weld quality [77]. There are two methods used commonly to obtain its values when single-phase AC RSW machine is used, the first is that using RMS value of electrode voltage divided by the RMS value of welding current, the second is that using the peak value of electrode voltage divided by the welding current for each control cycle. The first method required a lot of online data collecting and calculation, but the value has high accuracy and is insensitive to the various noises, while the second method requires less calculation, however, only two collected data, which is electrode voltage and welding current in the peak during each control cycle, was used to obtain each value of dynamic resistance, so the reliability and accuracy of the result are easy to be assured. Traditional measurements obtained the value in the secondary coil of the welding system. Cho et al. [78–80] thought that the traditional method may induce a lot of noises during the process, and proposed a method which obtained the value in the primary coil of the system. After obtained the dynamic resistance, the work [78] established a neural network for quality estimation. The input of the network selected some points from the dynamic resistance curve, such as beta peak location  $L_{btp}$ , which was related to the nugget growth and mechanical collapse, the speed of increase of the dynamic resistance R<sub>slope</sub>, which was related to the nugget growth rate, the maximum dynamic resistance  $R_{max}$  which was used to examine whether the heating is adequate for nugget generation, and the standard deviation of the dynamic resistance R<sub>std</sub> which was used in order to examine the resistance variations. The output of the network was the ultimate strength, which was obtained through the offline tensile-shear strength test. Two hidden layers, each containing ten nodes, linked the input and output. The effectiveness of the method was testified by



Fig. 10. (a) The primary dynamic resistance pattern and feature extraction, (b) The neural network architecture.



Fig. 11. (a) Original dynamic resistance pattern, (b) Graphical dynamic resistance pattern [74].

the actual calculations and measurements. Fig. 10 [78] shows the primary dynamic resistance pattern and feature extraction, as well as the neutral network architecture.

The work [79] also used the same dynamic resistances calculation method, and then employed regression model through multiple linear and nonlinear regression analyses to estimate weld quality. In the model, the tensile-shear strength and the nugget diameter were selected as dependent variables, and ten estimation factors were used to determine the regression equation. Following the regression analysis, a multilayer neural network can be used to estimate weld quality, and the final experimental results showed that the neutral network had a high performance. The work [74,80] employed a Hopfield neural network, which was comprised of single-layer feedback networks with symmetric weights. The dynamic resistance values were collected, and then were normalized between 0 and 1 before the values were converted into a two dimensional pattern vector. Then the normalized dynamic resistance is mapped into a  $6 \times 10$  element bipolarized vector, and then used black and white squares to denote the pattern. The original and graphical pattern of dynamic resistance is shown in Fig. 11 [74].

The Hopfield neural network stored five prototypes which were described by graphical dynamic resistance pattern, one prototypes denoted one class. Each class denoted a range of weld strength. In the work, the parent metal was low carbon cold rolled steel. For example, the weld strengths of class I were 1.17–1.25 kN, which was much lower than the strength criteria of 2.89 kN; while the weld strength of class III–V were 3.15–3.70 kN, showing adequate strength for any circumstances. Then for any new collected graphical dynamic resistance pattern, applied them to the AI pattern recognition method to classify into corresponding class. Using the classified pattern, real-time estimation of the weld quality was made possible. Also, El-Banna et al. [81] employed an algorithmic framework based on a linear vector quantization (LVQ) neutral network for online estimating the button size class based on a small number of dynamic resistance patterns for cold, normal and expulsion welds. In the work, they used Constant Current Control (CCC) method for medium frequency DC RSW machine, and a self-proposed constant heat control (CHC) method for single-phase AC RSW machine. Two metal stacks were used: 2.00 mm



Fig. 12. Sample dynamic resistance profiles for cold, expulsion, and normal welds for (a) A CCC using Medium Frequency DC, (b) An AC constant heat controller [81].

gauge hot tip galvanized high strength low alloys (HSLA) steel, and 0.85 mm gauge electro-galvanized HSLA steel. Then for each type of RSW machine, corresponding results can be shown in Fig. 12 [81].

It can be seen from Fig. 12 that for two types of RSW machines with different controllers, the neural network can classify the welds into three catalogues: normal weld, cold weld and expulsion weld. However, the profiles were not easily distinguishable in reality. The dynamic resistance profiles of cold welds tend to be lower than the other profiles, while the profiles of expulsion weld tend to have a sharp drop, especially towards to the end. Then the LVQ neural network was used to assist the classification. The inputs of the neural network were some easily accessible dynamic resistance profiles, such as maximum, minimum, mean value, standard derivation of the collected data, slopes in different regions, RMS values, and so on. The work showed using limited collected data can obtain promising classification results. Also, the effects when reducing feature sets were employed were also reported. Combined the control strategy using RSW machines with different types of power sources, the contributions in this work can provide reference in many aspects in RSW. In addition, Zhu et al. [82] used a multi-pulse method to eliminate the contact resistances between two electrodes and workpieces and the errors of resistance caused by temperature rising, and then the models of relation between brazing rate (the ratio of the effective welding area and the area of welding gap) and the resistance, as well as the relation between brazing rate and the tensileshear strength can be established from a lot of experimental data. With two equations which described the two relations, the welding quality could be estimated by brazing rate and tensile-shear strength based on calculated dynamic resistance. Through comparing experiments between calculated and measured values, it was believed that the method was reliable. An approximate work was conducted by Luo et al. [83]. The work showed that there was a high linear relationship between



Fig. 13. The neuro-fuzzy scheme [86].

energy for nugget growth and mean dynamic resistance, and more prominent polynomial relationship between energy for nugget growth and dynamic resistance heat. The dynamic resistance heat was an important evaluating indicator of the nugget growth. Then corresponding curve fitting equations between dynamic resistance heat and nugget diameter, and tensileshear strength were established, to achieve NDT of nugget quality features. Also, as a mathematical model for classification, random forest (RF), was also used in weld quality classification based on dynamic resistance features and other welding parameters. Xing et al. [84] collected some features from dynamic resistance profiles, such as value in the first decline point  $R_{\alpha}$ , value in the peak  $R_{\beta}$ , value in the end  $R_{\gamma}$ , relative velocities for asperities or contaminates breakdown  $v_1$ , local melting and initiation of nugget formation  $v_2$ , and nugget growth  $v_3$ , and maximum absolute gradient in stage of nugget growth  $\nabla_{max}$ , standard deviation  $\sigma$ , together with some other operational variables, a weld quality classification model based on RF was obtained. The result showed that the methodology can improve the accuracy of the quality classification, which can achieve 98.8%. The work also obtained that the four parameters of dynamic resistance profiles, which were  $v_2$ ,  $v_3$ ,  $R_{\gamma}$  and $\nabla_{max}$ , and the welding current, were the most important variables for quality classification. Also, for small scale RSW, Wan et al. [85] employed some special features from dynamic resistance signals as the input of the neural network, and the nugget size as the output, then a reliable welding quality system can be achieved. It meant that the dynamic resistance can be also used in small scale RSW.

On the other hand, electrode displacement was also used in many previous works. Zhang et al. [86] employed the electrode displacement and electrode velocity as the inputs, and the nugget diameter as the sole output, established a neuro-fuzzy inference system to online monitor the weld quality of RSW operation, the neuro-fuzzy scheme was shown in Fig. 13 [86].

The two inputs were codified into linguistic values by the set of Gaussian member functions, and the respective activation degree to each rule can be calculated. Lastly, the inference mechanism weights each conclusion values, and the error between the inferred output value and the respective desired value was used by the gradient-descent method to adjust each rule conclusion. The final experiments showed that the 88% specimens were successfully inferred, and the errors was within 1.5%, which meant that the artificial intelligent can improve the welding academic research and actual production. Also, Lai et al. [87] and Zhang et al. [88] used online measurement electrode indentation from servo encoder to accurately distinguish welds which cannot meet the requirements of strength and diagnose welding failures. The works validated the electrode indentation line. Zhang et al. [89] mapped the collected electrode displacement signals into a 15  $\times$  25 element bipolarized matrix by means of fuzzy theory. In the work, low carbon cool rolled steel place with 0.7 mm thickness was employed. For 25 sample points, each value used the mean value and was processed by rigorous procedures, so as to assure the bipolarized matrix can denote a standard and normalized electrode displacement pattern. Fig. 14 [89] shows the mean value of electrode displacement and corresponding pattern.

Then the genetic *K*-means algorithm (GKA), which was an iterative algorithm to find a partition that minimizes the square-error (SE) between the assigned pattern and selected reference pattern, was utilized to realize the clustering analysis and quality estimation of the welded spots. The final clustering analysis results validated that the electrode displacement pattern matrix can provide adequate quality information of welded spots for machine learning and complicated programming works could be avoided. Also, the same group developed another method which employed radar chart to analyze the electrode displacement through noises reduction, then utilized the geometric features of the closed polygon to achieve the welding quality evaluation [90]. In the work, decision tree was employed to classify the welded spots, even under some abnormal welding conditions, the diagnostic procedures for welding quality was visible and intuitive and easily understood and interpreted. A similar work was conducted by Gong et al. [91]. The work collected the electrode displacement and then used the Bayesian Belief Network (BBN) to provide a quantitative model for weld quality classification. Shear strength was used to classify the welds. Apart from providing a new weld quality classification method, the model can predict the expulsion limits for the materials studied, and the work also provided a generic probabilistic methodology to analyze other weld-



Fig. 14. (a) Mean electrode displacement waveform of each welding cycle; (b) Electrode displacement pattern.



Fig. 15. Chernoff faces template corresponding the different welding quality catalogues [92].

ing parameters in various materials systems. In addition, a visual and interesting approach was developed by Zhang et al. [92] using electrode displacement to assess the welding quality in non-destructive method. The work extracted the multi-dimensional features from the electrode displacement signals. Then the features can be viewed as the facial variables to draw the Chernoff faces, which required 17 variables, according to the rules of this type of drawing. The quality criterion was tensile-shear strength, and can be classified into four catalogues: poor, good, excellent and expulsion. The corresponding Chernoff faces were shown in Fig. 15 [92].

It can be observed that the results were visual and intuitive. The range of the drawing can be freely adjusted. Also, the work can detect the shunting effect during the process. This work was a good alternative in the welding quality estimation. Then, the group extended the contribution. In their recent published work [93], the original Chernoff face image was converted into binary pattern matrix, which was approximate to the Fig. 14(b), and then the features matrices can be corresponded to five welding quality levels and trained a Hopfield associative memory neural network. The five levels were poor, qualified, good, excellent, and expulsion welds. Final test results showed the proposed classifier can present good performance as expected. All of these previous contributions denoted that combining the commonly-employed mathematical tools and electrode displacement, the weld quality can be detected or analyzed after relative efforts.

In addition to separately employ dynamic resistance and electrode displacement, other intrinsic process variables, such as electrode force, or two or more intrinsic variables were also employed to obtain more convinced results. As one of the most control parameters during the process, electrode force can affect the welding quality in a lot of aspects and was considered by some previous works. For example, Park et al. [94] employed the electrode force pattern to do quality estimation. The used quality criterion in the work were the tensile-shear strength and electrode indentation. They conducted experiments under different welding conditions under different process parameters such as welding currents and electrode forces, then the relations between force patterns and qualities could be determined. The experimental data was collected to train the proposed neural network to evaluate welding qualities through the classification into standard patterns. In the work, LVO and BP neural networks were employed and presented good performance in the classification work. It is concluded that the welding quality evaluation by means of electrode force patterns could be employed with satisfactory accuracy. Also, as one main process variable during the process, welding power signal was employed to online evaluate the weld quality. Zhang et al. [95] developed a method to acquire dynamic reactance signal, and then found that the morphological feature of the reactance signal was closely related to the welding current and significantly influenced by some abnormal welding conditions. The features can be extracted from the reactance signals, and then the weld nugget strength and diameter prediction models based on the radial basis function (RBF) neural network were established using them. The effectiveness of the methods was supported by the experimental results. Ju [96] used the five variables to establish the quality estimation model, which were peak power, peak time, GI coating (uncoated or GI coated, where GI stood for pure zinc), electrode force and power drop. The model was established by multinomial logistic regression. After examining the significance of the parameters, only three variables, which were peak power, GI coating and power drop, were used to establish the weld quality prediction model. The experimental results showed that the overall accuracy can achieve 95% or higher. In the meanwhile, the expulsion can also be detected by means of the signal of power drop. The work believed that welding power signal was better than dynamic resistance because the signal is controllable and the amount of energy delivery can be directly expressed. and it is not affected by the electrode force or other elements during the process. Moreover, electrode voltage can also be used to establish a neural network for online quality estimation. Compared to the large scale RSW, the electrode displacement is more difficult to measure because the magnitude is very small, on the other hand, the force signals are relatively large and the measured noise was less susceptible [22]. Hence, force signal was commonly employed in corresponding operation in small scale RSW. Zhao et al. [21] employed a small scale RSW equipment with three-phase medium frequency DC RSW operation, and conducted constant current control mode. The work used four factors extracted from the electrode voltage curve, and then established a model using neural network to correlate the factors and nugget diameter. The maximum average forecast error of the trained network was about 0.15 mm for nugget diameter in the experimental verification, which showed that the voltage curve was also reliable in online quality estimation and monitoring.

Also, some intrinsic parameters can be together employed to achieve the goal of online quality measurement and evaluation. Li et al. [97] used a single-phase AC RSW machine and simultaneously employed some parameters, such as electrode force, electrode displacement, dynamic resistance, welding current using RMS values, initial force and welding time, to make up a multi-layered feed-forward neural network to establish a model. The parameters were collected from 170 samples under various conditions, such as 3.0–4.0 kN electrode force, 6.9–13.4 kA welding current, 3–36 welding cycles (times) and 6.4–7.2 mm contact diameter, and dynamic resistance during each control cycle calculated from tip voltage and welding current at the current peak. The final results showed that the estimation errors of nugget diameter were less than 10%. In addition, Chen et al. [98] proposed an information acquisition and evaluation method based on online monitoring of the weld quality for titanium alloys. The parameters included the welding current, electrode voltage, electrode pressure and electrode displacement signals. Based on the signals characteristics from online observations and analyses, the system can detect the defects including splash and incomplete fusion of the welded spots. In addition, they analyzed the relation between pressure waveform data and the splashed welded spot, and the relation between dynamic resistance variation and incomplete fusion phenomenon. The relations between different parameter variations and the defects can provide clues for online quality assessment. However, only simple and rough judgments can be obtained in the work. An approximate work was conducted by Deng et al. [99]. The work used three variables, which were welding current, electrode force and electrode displacement, to establish an evaluating model of nugget size using fuzzy mathematics. The model can help the welders explore why the nugget size was substandard. In addition, Wan et al. [100] used two types of neural networks to online predict the weld quality of small scale RSW process. The first type used the electrode force, welding current, welding time and four features extracted from electrode voltage and dynamic resistance as the inputs, and the value of failure load as the only one output to establish a BP neural network. However, the structure was so complex and the quality can only be determined after obtaining the specific failure load magnitude. Then the second type used the electrode voltage signals as the inputs and the different levels of the failure load as the outputs, and the probabilistic neural network (PNN) to establish a model. Both of the two neutral networks presented high accuracy in the experiments. They had conclusion that the first neural network model was more suitable for specific estimation of failure load magnitude, while the second model was more appropriate to be used in quality classification. Hence, combination of two models may provide a better solution of online quality estimation. It is a typical work for online quality estimation for small scale RSW.

In addition, recently some frontier analyses based on the machine learning and pattern recognition have been used in RSW related areas, especially in the quality estimation or classification using various intrinsic process variables, due to the RSW system is an obvious multi-input-single-output (MISO) system which meets the requirements of those tools. Apart from various neural network tools, decision tree and RF, other methods, such as elastic nets, support vector machines (SVM) and boosting techniques, were also be employed. Martín et al. [101] used the welding current, welding time and electrode force as the inputs, while the tensile shear load bearing capacity (TSLBC) as the output, and the regression calculation technique utilized the quadratic regress expansion with elastic net regularization. The result showed that it can be used as an amensable tool to serve the RSW related researches. Also, to estimate various classification methods, Pereda et al. [102] compared several classifiers including pruned tree, boosting, RF, SVM radial, SVM linear, logistic regression, and so on. The input variables for training the models were welding current, welding time, electrode material, treatment (applied to electrode material), and electrode force, which was only a constant variable. The output was the classification of the nugget. According to the comparison and corresponding analyses, it could be concluded that there is no a dominant classifier for every possible pair specificity/sensitivity. A method or tool can perform better than others depending on the industrial context that determines the difference cost of a prediction error. In this work, the SVM using radial kernel, boosting, random forest techniques can obtain the best performance.

Expulsion is a negative phenomenon which can seriously affect the weld quality during the welding process and a lot of previous works concerned it. This phenomenon occurs at the internal of the workpieces and many process signals have correspondingly significant changes, hence, intrinsic signals were always employed to online detect it. To online detect the expulsion, Podržaj et al. [103] collected the dynamic resistance, filtered values of electrode force, amplitude of the electrode force variation and electrode displacement, and then employed the LVQ neural network to detect the expulsion for the cases of different mild steels and zinc-coated steels being welded. Then the work concluded that the LVQ network could detect the expulsion with the highest possible accuracy when only the welding force variation signal detected by a piezoelectric sensor, was employed. The work also pointed out the electrode force signal was the most important indicator of the expulsion occurrence, when compared to other signals. Also, the same group also studied the expulsion by means of examining the welding current shape [104], and concluded that higher peak values of the welding current were much more likely to induce expulsion under the condition that the welding currents had the same RMS values. The similar conclusion can also be appropriate in small scale RSW research [105], the work showed that though monitoring one or more of the variables can give an indication of whether the expulsion occurs, the force signal appears to be the most sensitive when compared to the voltage and displacement signals under this circumstance. Moreover, Zhang et al. [106] proposed various models to explore the mechanism of expulsion occurring. The models were established based on experimental data, and the expulsion probabilities were presented as a function of electrode force, welding current and welding time. Through statistical analyses, the expulsion limits under different parameters conditions can be obtained. It concluded that the most influential parameters in determining expulsion was welding current for the steel and aluminum alloys, and following is the electrode force, the least influential parameter is the welding time. Apart from the experimental observation, Senkara et al. [37] explored the mechanism of expulsion occurring, and pointed out that it could be described by the interaction between forces from the liquid nugget and its surrounding solid containment. The effective electrode force, which was usually a portion of the total applied/nominal electrode force, was used to evaluate the expulsion, and the value could be calculated in the work. Also, the work provided a guideline for the electrode force selection. It can be seen that for expulsion, the current researches were not just about online detecting them using numerical models, but also the mechanism explorations were conducted by some scholars

Apart from employing auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors or intrinsic process variables to do online process analysis and quality estimation, some scholars employed multi-sensor, which combined the both of two types of signals together to obtain more abundant information. Chien et al. [107] presented an investigation of various sensors system for RSW, and the signals were analyzed and correlated with nugget formation and growth. The system included a fiber-optic displacement sensor, an acoustic emission sensor, a force transducer, and the current and voltage measurement, which were simultaneously monitor the welding process. Then the signals were analyzed to correlate to the different stages of weld formation. The work obtained that the electrode force could clearly show a decreased trend upon the onset of melting, and this trend can be used as an indication of weld formation. Also, other characteristics of electrode force can also be related to the weld quality. Finally, the work concluded that monitoring the force signal can enable the welding quality. In addition, Cullen et al. [108] also developed a sensor cluster to monitor the RSW, which included a current sensor, a voltage sensor, a photoelectric infrared diode and a weld ultrasonic system. All the data from these sensors was recorded using a PC through corresponding acquisition system. Then a multilayer perceptron feed forward, BP neural network was employed. The input of the neural network included current (I), voltage (V), dynamic resistance (R), infrared (IR), force (F) and ultrasonic (US), while the output was weld nugget size. Through adjusting several parameters of the network, including the number of hidden layers, the number of neurons and transfer function, the correlation between predicted result and actual results can be improved. At last the optimum network structure can be chosen and the nugget size prediction can achieve a high accuracy. This type of work can be considered as a combination of the works using one or few sensors, they used the same principle to relate the collected data and mathematical tools. More information was employed, and more accuracy of model could be established. However, the models were more complex than that of others using few data, which can induce the generality relatively lower.

In summary, the nugget formation and growth occurs at the interface between workpieces, and is hard to directly monitor and analyze. A lot of scholars employed various methods to analyze the process, estimate or classify the welded spots for nondestructive test or other objectives. Apart from preceding part which reviewed the auxiliary measuring signals from external sensors, this part focuses on the intrinsic signals, which can be collected during the RSW production process. The variation of signals is closely relative to the nugget formation and growth, so they can be employed to reflect the internal physical variation of the metal sheets. Dynamic resistance and electrode displacement were the most commonly-employed signals, and other signals, such as electrode force, were also be used. There is a difference in between large scale RSW and small scale RSW, which is that the electrode displacement signal was used few in small scale RSW because the magnitude of the signal was very small and difficult to collect, and the force signal was used more under this circumstance. Kinds of neural networks, regression methods or curve fittings were usually employed to establish the model using kinds of signals. However, each method required a lot of preliminary data to train the reference model, and some criterions were proposed based on the welding or mathematical knowledge. The model, which was obtained based on the collected data, was determined under the special welding conditions and productions environments. Then the new testing data was processed and the results can be obtained. Majority of works cannot provide general methods and had their limitations in reality, also, some methods involved sophisticated data collection and particular modeling process, which seriously limited the generality of the methods. Combining various signals and sensors, the methods can provide approaches for majority of actual requirements. It is easy to find the common points from the previous works, no matter which sensors or mathematical tools were employed, the variations followed relatively fixed rule which can be employed to test new collecting data for weld samples. However, it was difficult to conclude whether the approaches can be extended to general applications, because the exploration of the rules lacked enough physical support, and relied on the preliminary training data which had their limitation in reality. In addition, many mathematical tools were employed in quality estimation and NDT, not only the traditional BP and LVQ neural networks, but also the recent RF and SVM, and other relative tools, they provided convenient modeling method to relate the various input variables and selected output variables. It is hard to conclude that which tool was the most suitable for RSW application because the performance is determined by data coupling strategies, variables selection, and other relative conditions. According to review previous works, the BP neural network is the most commonlyemployed tools to predict the nugget size, while the LVQ is the most frequently used classifier. Though recently the SVM and relative frontier analysis tools presented good performance, their mass application is still limited. Though the previous works provided valuable contributions in academic researches and practical application, the relative works in this aspect are required to be more considered, and much simpler as well as more general methods are expected to be obtained and then serve the production in the future.

#### 3. Welding process control

To obtain welds with satisfactory quality, at the same time the energy loss is as less as possible, appropriate control actions should be taken during the process. Be different from the online process analysis and quality estimation, online weld-ing process control should concern both of quality and process optimizations. The control strategy must be designed based on the characteristics of nugget formation and growth, and the goal should be obtaining welds with satisfactory quality. In this work, we considered using internal and intrinsic conditions to achieve good welding quality through employing appropriate control strategies. We found that some works employed external tools to improve the welding quality, under some special conditions, such as using external magnetically assisted method [109,110]. However, those methods are not included

in this paper because the works of this paper focused on using different control strategies to adjust the energy delivery modes, so as to obtain the welds with satisfactory quality and high energy efficiency during the process, instead of employing other extrinsic tools to assist the quality improvement. In early works, some scholars focused on the control parameters optimization, and explored how the specific welding parameters affected the weld quality. Lately, other scholars combined the quality estimation and control strategy design, and then proposed proper control strategies to achieve satisfactory goals.

#### 3.1. Parameters optimization

During the process, welding current, welding time and electrode force are three variables which determine the welding process and weld quality. The conventional welding schedule are composed of these three variables. There is no difference between RSW machines using single-phase AC power source and three-phase medium frequency DC RSW power source in welding schedule design, only except the description of welding time. Traditionally, in single-phase AC RSW operation, the welding time is described by welding cycle, while in that of three-phase medium frequency DC RSW, because the welding current is successive and no idle exists, the welding time is usually described by direct counted by milliseconds.

Apart from the welding time, welding current and electrode force have their special ranges to achieve acceptable welding process and weld quality, which are called as welding lobe [111,112]. The welding lobe should be confirmed by actual experiences and experiments. Too small value of welding current may induce cold weld, while excessive welding current may induce expulsion, and may not avoid internal porosity or cracking of the nugget after welding completion. On the other hand, too small value of electrode force may easily induce expulsion, while large value of electrode force may reduce the efficiency of heat energy and produce small weld, because of no sufficient contact resistance and consequently heat generation [113,114]. Currently, though the different workpieces sizes can affect the efficiency of energy absorption and nugget growth rate [115], almost all of the control systems dealt with the workpieces with the same sizes, in other words, the effect of different workpieces sizes was few considered in previous works.

In previous works, some scholars wanted to obtain a steady welding process together with welds with satisfactory quality by means of optimizing the operational parameters. Kasih et al. [116] used two types of low carbon steels and made corresponding experiments and analyses, and then obtained optimum ranges of welding current and welding time, based on welding quality, which was described by nugget diameter and corresponding tensile-shear load. The work revealed that both of welding current and welding time had great influences on the quality of the spot welded joints. Similarly, Zhang et al. [117] explored the effects of RSW parameters on microstructures and mechanical properties on dissimilar material joints. In the work, a three-phase medium frequency DC RSW machine, was employed, so the welding time was counted by milliseconds instead of welding cycle, and constant current control was used. The workpieces used in the work were galvanized high strength steel and aluminum alloy. Because the workpieces were dissimilar, some particular phenomena appeared. According to change the nugget diameters and interfacial layer structure, welding current and welding time had obvious effects on the tensile-shear load of the spot welded joints. Based on the experiments and analyses, an optimum range of welding current and welding time which can obtain the maximum value of nugget diameter can be provided. Also, the interfacial intermetallic compound layer has higher nanohardness than that of aluminum alloy nugget and galvanized steel. Wan et al. [118] established a model to explore the effect of welding current on RSW process, the workpieces were DP600 steel. The experiments were conducted with the welding current between 6 kA and 12 kA, and FEM tool was also employed to predict the nugget size. The final results showed that the welding current had slight effect on the micro-properties of the spot welds, according to the microstructure examination. However, the nugget size and shape were highly dependent on the welding current. Also, the expulsion phenomenon was also considered in the work. It occurred at 12 kA and unsatisfactory partial interfacial failure can be detected. An approximate work was conducted by Vignesh et al. [119]. The workpieces were two types of dissimilar stainless steels. According to examine the microstructures and other analyses, it was concluded that the welding current majorly indicated the tensile-shear strength, followed by the welding time, while the least effective factor was the electrode tip diameter. After using Taguchi's L27 orthogonal array design to select an optimum schedule, the final result showed that the weld nugget consisted of ferrite and austenite and there was no precipitate of detrimental phases in the weldment, which showed a satisfactory quality. The majority of previous works used constant welding current during the process, however, to employ more effective welding current, Md et al. [120] examined the effects of different reference welding currents on increasing of nugget diameter, and then proposed an adaptive reference welding current compensation function to achieve an optimum welding schedule. In addition, the effects of different welding times on the quality were also be considered. Aslanlar et al. [121] investigated the effects of welding time on the tensile-peel and tensile-shear strengths of welding joints in RSW operations. According to the experiments, the optimum combination of welding time and welding current which can achieve the maximum strengths were obtained after several experiments using various combinations. A similar work was also found in work [2]. In addition, through evaluation by peeling tests, cross-tension tests and weld lobe with various welding currents and welding times, Lin et al. [122] obtained an optimal welding time. Also, the work proposed that using two-step RSW scheme, which introduced an additional pre-heat stage, could result in a larger nugget than that of traditional one-step scheme, and then the actual experiments supported the statement.

In majority of previous works, electrode force was a constant during the process. This is because the majority of electrode forces are controlled by a pressure differential of the two air pressure gauges, which is hard to online adjust during the welding process. However, the characteristics of electrode force were also monitored and investigated in previous works. Sun et al. [123] divided the electrode force into three types: squeeze force, welding force and forging force. To online change

Table 1

the electrode force, an electrical servo gun was employed in the work. For three types of forces, higher squeeze force was required to ensure the closely contact of sheet metal before welding, while lower squeeze welding force can lead to higher electrical resistance of sheet metal, and the highest forging force can reduce solidification defects like cracks and porosity. Hence, the electrode force during the process was better to be a varying value instead of a constant one. According to usage of the design of experiment (DOE) approach, optimum parameters of the forces can be confirmed by experiments and corresponding analyses. The final results showed that a varying electrode force can improve the weld quality, and also evidently enlarging the weldability lobe. Apart from this work, Venugopal et al. [124] also explored the effect of the time-varying electrode force on the nugget size in three-phase medium frequency DC RSW system. The work was based on the numerical simulation using a professional RSW simulation software, which was SORPAS, and actual experiments. The simulation presented the effects of constant electrode force and time-varying electrode force on the increasing of the nugget size. Using specific welding condition and parent metal sheets, the relation between increasing of electrode force and growths of nugget size was nonlinear, when a constant electrode force was employed during each process. When a time-varying electrode force was employed, the changes of time of force in percentage significantly affected the nugget size, under the condition that the same welding current and welding time were used. Apart from just adjusting one parameter, two parameters, which were welding current and electrode force, can be adjusted according to the online detection results during one welding process. Ji et al. [125] used three-phase medium frequency DC RSW machine to explore the effects of electrode displacement and electrode force on the RSW process of aluminum alloy 5182. Apart from that the two parameters were proportional to the welding current, they both presented important characteristics during the nugget formation and growth process, such as their increasing rates were proportional to the welding current, and can detect when expulsion occurring. Then based on the characteristics, two possible strategies for quality control, which employed different values of welding current, were designed. In the strategy, the welding current was firstly set according to changes of electrode displacement or force, then kept it constant until the force reaches the peak or the total displacement reaches an experimentally predetermined value. Both strategies would produce nugget with satisfactory sizes.

Above works denoted that three significant parameters can seriously affect the welding process and nugget formation and growth. Moreover, other welding operational conditions were also considered during the welding process, such as machine stiffness, friction and moving mass [126,127]. The works can conclude that the machine stiffness had a positive influence on expulsion prevention and welding quality, so that it is recommended, while the machine friction and contact error had negative effect on welding quality, and machine moving mass and touch behavior had no influence on weld quality. Dennison et al. [128] examined the RSW operations and corresponding robotic equipment, and then focused on the optimization of the mechanical and control systems for the RSW process, especially referred to the existed robotic spot welding system. During the process control of a robot RSW system, some system characteristics influenced the process duration, such as weld controller latency, gun close time and gun open time. Two aspects should be considered for the process optimization. The first was the process improvements via modifications to mechanical system design including the mechanical and electrical system design and corresponding optimizations, while the second was the closed loop control methodologies including the online monitoring of the electrical parameters and corresponding analyses, as well as the results from some external auxiliary sensors. The robots were employed to conduct the optimization process, and then an optimum control strategy was produced a further 5% improvement in the process cycle time. This work was based on the robotic RSW system and considered the mechanical, electrical and control elements, and then used comprehensive methods to optimize the welding process. Though the final results were obtained from a series of experiments, it can be a general method for optimizing the robotic RSW system and possible extended to other RSW process.

In summary, though RSW system is so complex, the commonly adjustable parameters were only welding current, electrode force and welding time. Three parameters have significant influences for the welding quality. Table 1 shows their influences on the welding process or weld quality, and the corresponding commonly-used optimization measures, according to review previous works.

It can be seen that the optimization measures of welding current and welding time always were taken together. The design of welding schedule is trying to find an optimum combination of three parameters for a special welding process, and the goal is obtaining welds with larger nugget size or higher tensile-shear strength, in the meanwhile, some negative phenomena, such as expulsion, splash, cold or undersize weld, must be avoided. This part only considers the optimization of the control parameters for achieving an optimum welding quality. According to review previous works, because the welding current is the main parameter which can determine the amount of energy delivering into the system, as well as its value

Influences on the welding process and weld quality, and optimization measures of the three main variables.					
Variables	Influences on the	Optimization Measures			
Welding Current	Nugget size and shape; Expulsion occurring; Tensile-shear strength, micro-properties of the weld	Using numerical analyses and experimental to seek an optimum combination for one specific process			
Welding Time Electrode Force	Tensile-peel and tensile-shear strengths of welding joints Energy efficiency; Expulsion occurring; solidification features of the spot weld	Varying instead of constant value during the process			

can be easier adjusted than that of others, it is considered by a lot of previous works. Also, recent works considered using varying electrode force by means of electrical servo gun and found that it can improve the welding process and weld quality. Many combinations were derived from actual experiments and corresponding comparisons. In this section, the majority of schedules were a fixed combination during the whole welding process, or preliminarily set a varying mode. Hence, the control optimization process was offline and the online adjustments were not included, which had limitations because there were various disturbances and uncertainties during the RSW process. Though the works can provide references for other welding schedule designs and control process optimizations, these reported methods were not general and should be improved to further achieve online control to obtain welds with satisfactory quality. In the next section, the works which dealt with the real time control operation collaborating with online quality estimation will be considered.

#### 3.2. Control process optimization

Apart from the control parameters optimization for the RSW process, some control actions were conducted by combining the online quality estimation results. In these works, different control strategies were employed and presented different effects related to the weld quality, based on the application of mathematical tools, control system designs and quality estimations of the RSW process.

The external energy is delivered into the welding system through two types of power sources, and some previous works only considered the process control for the power sources without the optimization for weld quality. The works focused on the characteristics of electrical structures and provided solutions to achieve stable welding process and expected control strategy for energy delivery. For example, in our previous work [54], constant current control strategy was properly realized in single-phase AC RSW machine, whose electrical system is highly nonlinear and time-varying. The work was based on the mathematical modeling of the electrical structure and can be easily extended to other control strategy, such as constant power control in our other work [129]. Also, in the three-phase medium frequency DC RSW machine, the magnetic saturation in the iron core of the welding transformer may induce disastrous negative phenomena. Klopčič et al. [130,131] analyzed the electrical structure and proposed a new advanced hysteresis control method to control the actual output welding current, and reduce the current spikes and eliminate the magnetic saturation. These works benefited the current RSW operations. Though they were relative to the control process optimization, the operations only concerned energy delivery art rather than the quality information, they are not seriously considered and reviewed in detail in this section.

The simplest control mode for the RSW operation was open-loop controller. The parameter setting and process control followed a predetermined welding schedule, which was obtained from offline experiments or experiences. However, the method cannot consider the quality estimation results because the operational parameters were preliminary fixed, and no any feedback information and adjustment can be used during the process. Then to combine the online quality estimation result, close-loop control should be employed together. The most commonly-used close-loop controller was Proportional-Integral–Derivative (PID) Controller. Cho et al. [132] and Chang et al. [133] developed two similar feedback controllers to achieve good quality. Single-phase AC type machines were used in both works. The controllers were based on a microprocessor, and adjusted the energy input to make the actual electrode movement track a preliminary desired curve, which was obtained offline and denoted the welds with satisfactory quality could be obtained. The P controller and PI controller were respectively employed in these two works. The characteristics of final products approached the desired characteristics very much, so the preliminary goals were achieved under the circumstances of the experiments. Also, Haefner et al. [134] developed a real time adaptive controller using the same basic idea. Single-phase AC RSW machine was also used in this work. An integrated PID controller was used, and the gain was obtained using advanced Smith-Predictor, which could continuously modify the gain by the linear least squared estimator to follow the actual process gain variation during the welding process. The preliminary electrode displacement curve, which denoted the welds having desired quality, was an ideal condition for controller adjustment. Finally, through adjusting the gains of the PID controller, the actual energy delivery was changed to make the actual electrode displacement curve approach the preliminary ideal one. Fig. 16 showed the control scheme of this kind of controllers.

These feedback controllers can achieve the goal which obtained welds with satisfactory quality, under the specific welding conditions. However, it has more limitations. Firstly, it may not be able to obtain general desired curve of the reference model, which was the electrode displacement moving trajectory in above works, no matter using numerical calculation or actual experimental method. Numerical calculation has some limitations, which were the same as why the FEM cannot precisely describe the RSW process, as mentioned in preceding section. For an actual experimental process, because the system



Fig. 16. Control scheme of close-loop feedback controller.

was so complex, the desired curve obtained from one series of experiments cannot be generally employed in other occasions. In addition, the electrode movement was affected by electrode force, or other relative mechanical and electrical conditions. Similarly, as another process variable which was commonly employed to describe the process characteristics, dynamic resistance was also considered as desired control condition in previous work [135]. However, establishing a precise and reliable model to seek a desired dynamic resistance curve may be even more difficult than that obtaining a desired electrode displacement, because the dynamic resistance related to more elements and more sensitive to kinds of noises affecting the parent sheet metals than those of electrode displacement, and the phase change can affect dynamic resistance more than that of electrode displacement. Hence, based on the same reason, it was harder to establish a corresponding general relation between varying dynamic resistance and varying energy delivery.

As the significantly developing of artificial intelligent (AI) controller and high technology of computer application, intelligent control methods were also widely employed in RSW process control. Firstly, fuzzy logic controller was used more frequently in practical mechanical systems, also in RSW system control. Araki et al. [136] proposed a model reference fuzzy adaptive control (MRFAC) system for RSW process control, which was a nonlinear and time-varying system for realizing online control and improving output performance. The input of the system was a voltage signal to firing SCR of the single-phase AC RSW machine, while the output was the welding energy. The goal of the control action was obtaining expected output performances, which were expected nugget and reduced energy loss. An adaptive welding energy reference model, which was established based on expected welding information, such as characteristics of different welding stages, welding current and so on, provided online feedback information to the fuzzy logic controller, which could adjust the gain and output new voltage input signal for the next control cycle. The simulation showed that the actual output could converge to the desired demands. This work only considered how to use fuzzy controller in RSW process control, and focused on the characteristics of different welding stage instead of quality control for RSW operation. However, the reference model might not be sufficiently reliable, and the work was not an integrated actual welding operation and no weld quality information appeared in the work. Hence, the work can only be an important reference for the further works. Another typical application of the fuzzy logic control was developed by Chen et al. [137], and the authors were also the members of the group who conducted the preceding work. Based on the dynamic resistance calculation and input energy, they can calculate the nugget size using FEM, and a welding current model reference in different welding stages, which was based on characteristics of dynamic resistance, could be established. The nugget size in this work included both of the penetration and distance, which were width and height. The error of the welding current was the input of the proposed fuzzy logic controller, while the output was the input of the RSW machine, which was also a voltage signal firing SCR. According to FEM calculation of nugget size based on the actual welding dynamic resistance and welding current, the proposed method could obtain bigger nugget size than that of constant current control. In these two works, fuzzy logic control was used to calculate the input of RSW system based on the output of the machine. Also, fuzzy logic control was a powerful tool to deal with a lot of input information and make a decision for control system. Khoo et al. [138] employed a two-stage RSW machine and selected four important variables, which were welding currents in two stages, welding time and electrode pressure, as the inputs, and the outer diameter of the HAZ as the output, to establish a prototype fuzzy RSW system. The rule-base contained 125 heuristic control rules derived from experiences, literatures reviews and through actual experiments, to relate the necessary actions to obtain welds with good quality. The system had the ability to imitate the decision-making process of a specialist and to provide simultaneous control of more parameters. Hence, it is possible to achieve good welding quality even the initial parameters setting was not perfect, because the prototype system can provide a bi-directional adjustment of outer diameter of the HAZ which was like the specialists' behaviors, and prevent the machine from operating under undesirable conditions. Recently, to increase the cost effectiveness in the production, Podržaj et al. [139] employed the fuzzy logic to detect the expulsion occurring. The variations of three important variables, which were dynamic resistance, electrode displacement and welding force, could be inputs the fuzzy logic, and the expulsion was the output, and each varying range is between 0 and 1. If the output was changed to 1, the welding process should be stopped immediately so that the electrode can be protected and the energy can be saved. Compared to the preceding works, the last work did not focus on the welding quality and process control. It was just an actual application of fuzzy logic in online expulsion detection.

Apart from fuzzy logic control, neural network was also employed in RSW control action. In many cases, it was combined with fuzzy logic to generate expected results in RSW relative works. An intelligent control system was developed by Messler et al. [140]. In the work, neural network was used to describe the electrode displacement as a function of percentage maximum heat input and welding time. It used a lot of actual experimental data and trained the network offline using BP algorithm. The data was collected under normal welding condition with different percentages of heat input. Then a fuzzy logic was used to adjust the actual heat input based on the electrode displacement and velocity. The control actions began from the third control cycle because the effect of surface roughness or contaminations dominated the first two cycles, and then the fuzzy rules were adjusted based on the difference between actual and desired electrode displacements, together with the difference between actual and desired electrode displacements. The desired values came from experimental and theoretical deduction based on the electrode movement characteristics. The border of the two zones was confirmed in preliminary stage. This combined controller can compensate for variations and errors, and improve the welding quality during the RSW process, according to the simulation of three anomalies that frequently occurred during the process, which were worn electrode, poor fit-up and contamination. Also, Zhang et al. [141] proposed a neuro-fuzzy algorithm to control the weld quality, through adjusting the welding current, when the part fit-up fault



Fig. 17. Structure of neuro-fuzzy system in work [141].

existed. The proposed inference system had two input variables, which were electrode displacement and electrode velocity, while the welding current was the output variable. The desired value of the input also came from preliminary deduction, as the same as the preceding work. The errors between desired and actual values of the two input variables were codified into linguistic values by special membership functions, and then the activation degrees to each rule can be calculated. At last, the inference mechanism weighted each conclusion values. The error signals were used by the gradient-descent method to adjust each rule conclusion. Fig. 17 [141] showed the structure.

The final experimental results showed that when the proposed system was applied, the actual electrode displacement was very close to the desired electrode displacement, when compared to that without the proposed system, which meant that the proposed neuro-fuzzy system was able to compensate for the quality variation caused by part fit-up fault conditions.

According to above works using AI control methods for RSW operations, it can be concluded that the applications of intelligent controllers in practical RSW operations are remaining limited. Because the RSW system is so complex, and a lot of elements affect the welding quality, it is hard to cover all the elements by means of AI modeling. Firstly, as the same as the usual feedback control, intelligent control needs a preliminary desired reference condition, electrode displacement and dynamic resistance were commonly used as the conditions, however, it was hard to obtain a general reference model to instruct the energy delivery. In majority of previous works, the desired curves were only proper under some specific conditions. Secondly, the fuzzy logic and neural network are based on former experimental data or experts' experiences, which are not general and ideal actually. In addition, RSW system has a lot of special features during the process, so that the fuzzy logic requires a lot of fuzzy set to cover all the elements. Also, precisely setting each linguistic value is difficult because the variation range cannot be precisely confirmed. Moreover, making up the fuzzy logic set require a lot of rules. Too many rules may decrease the generality and increase the complexity of the method, while too less rules many decrease robustness of the system, which is a dilemma actually. While neural network requires a lot of data for preliminary training to establish a map, however, the data may not cover all of conditions which will occur in reality, and the data may be obtained in one condition and may not ideally cater to other conditions. For example, the map between dynamic resistance or electrode displacement and input energy can be established according to a lot of actual experimental data, however, the variation of the two vari-

Table 2				
Characteristics	and	shortcomings	of the	controllers

Controller	Characteristics	Shortcomings
Open-loop control	Followed a predetermined welding schedule	No quality information, no online adjust
Close-loop control (PID)	Tracked a predetermined reference condition	Ideal and general reference cannot be obtained
Fuzzy logic control	Adjusted the energy delivery to follow a reference model established by quality information Adjusted the input according to experts' experiences	The models might not be reliable; Precisely setting each linguistic value was difficult; Fuzzy logic set required a lot of rules Using fuzzy set to cover all the elements was difficult
Neuro-fuzzy Control	Neural network established the relation between input and output, while fuzzy logic adjusted the energy delivery	The results were experimental condition dependent and might not be general in actual application

ables are affected by a lot of elements, in addition to the input energy, such as mechanical, electromagnetic or thermal elements, so the map may not be normally worked in other welding operations because the effects of the affecting elements may be diverse. In other words, they are experimental condition dependent and may not be general in actual application. Furthermore, the difference between parent metal sheets may be very large, the experiences, models or other types of references obtained from previous collected data may not be available for the new parent metal sheets. In addition, the methods directly adjusted the energy input, no matter in types of the firing voltage of SCR, or the duty cycle of the PWM, were based on the preceding system output. Once one sudden disturbance came, it may induce the energy delivery in next control cycle significantly vibrate, which may lead to system cannot be convergent, and the threshold setting may be not able to adequately deal with the sudden change of the system, under some special conditions. Hence, it was expected to use other advanced control system design for this process. To clearly present the characteristics of the different controller, combining the preceding open-loop and close-loop controllers, Table 2 shows the characteristics and shortcomings of above four controllers.

To obtain reliable and precise control, the energy delivery control and the online quality estimation can be coupled in recent works. A significant work using this mode was conducted by El-Banna et al. [142]. The work simultaneously employed constant current controller and the online quality estimator. A medium frequency DC RSW machine was used to operate the welding action. In the work, an intelligent control algorithm replaced the conventional "stepper" type constant current control action in the primary coil of the welding transformer was continuously adjusted based on two online intelligent sensors. The first was a LVQ neural network responsible for quality estimation, while the second was an online expulsion detection sensor based on dynamic resistance online monitoring. The online nugget quality estimation sensor, which used a two layers LVQ artificial neural network, was employed to classify the welds as three types: normal weld, expulsion weld and cold weld. The expulsion detection sensor was to detect the dynamic resistance variation, if sudden drop appeared in the dynamic resistance curve, it meant that the expulsion occurred. The control action of the welding current employed a fuzzy logic controller to modify the changes of the output current to achieve intelligent current adjustment to compensate the effects of electrode degradation, and the results of quality estimation and expulsion detection were utilized by the controller. The overall control scheme of the work was shown in Fig. 18 [142].

In the work, the online quality estimation, expulsion detection and realization of control strategy were properly combined. The work was a remarkable improvement when compared to previous works. Though the neural network was employed, it was just a weld classification sensor, and the expulsion detection also used general characteristics of RSW process. The fuzzy logic algorithm was used to achieve constant current control, and the algorithm did not fully rely on the results of online quality estimation and expulsion detection. The discipline was much general than that of previous other works. In other word, this type of work was the most suitable method when compared to other works, especially which employed the AI tools.



Fig. 18. Control scheme in the work.

In the preceding reviews, though the control systems were designed based on the effects of quality monitoring, two parts are dependent each other. In other words, if energy delivery followed a predetermined mode, such as constant current, constant energy or parameters optimization modes, the online quality estimation cannot instruct the control system design. On the other hand, if the online quality estimation was employed to generate control strategy for instructing the energy delivery, the energy delivery must abandon its intrinsic mode and follow it. In addition, if the feedback control mode was employed, the feedback signals must affect the predetermined energy delivery mode or quality estimation algorithm.

To achieve an appropriate control, the energy delivery and the online quality estimation should be absolutely separated, in other words, the energy delivery was independent and not affected by quality estimation result during the whole process, while the online quality estimation was just a sensor and provided the quality information to the system.

In our previous work [13,143], we designed a similar system to conduct the process control of RSW system. In this work, we employed a constant current controller, which was designed fully based on the electrical characteristics of single-phase AC RSW machine and can guarantee the value of the welding current approximately constant during the whole process. An online nugget diameter estimator was used to provide diameter value after each control cycle, based on a model which was established offline. The model in the work was based on the metallurgical experiment, while the process analysis based on dynamic resistance characteristics and mathematical deduction, and the results were verified by a series of experiments. The online dynamic resistance measurement in this work employed a new processing method, which used the historical information to eliminate the noises and errors, and obtained the values with very high frequency, at the same time the accuracy was similar to that of the calculation by RMS values of electrode voltage and welding current. The form of the quality estimator was mathematical equations based on the data curve fitting between energy absorbed by the workpieces and nugget diameter, and coefficients of equations were obtained based on the experiments under different welding currents. The over-all control scheme was shown in Fig. 19 [143].

In the work, the actual welding time of the system was determined by the result provided by the online nugget quality estimator. If the output of the estimator achieved the predetermined value, the process terminated, otherwise, the external energy continued to be delivered into the system. The energy was calculated using welding current and dynamic resistance following Eq. (1). The work properly combined online quality estimation and constant current control. However, the two parts were independent with each other. The result of online quality estimator did not affect the action of constant current control, it only supplied the estimated nugget diameter values after each control cycle, in other words, a terminating signal of the action. In addition, the detection of expulsion which was based on the fierce and abnormal change of dynamic resistance was also added to terminate the operation when expulsion occurred. Hence, the system was adequately safe during the process. The final experimental results showed that the error of the nugget diameter control can be limited to less than 0.1 mm.

According to review above control methods for RSW operation, the RSW system has only one input, such as percentage of energy input, or welding current, or other employed parameters, which were realized by adjusting the firing angle of SCR in single-phase AC RSW machine or duty ratio of PWM wave in three-phase medium frequency DC RSW machine. All of the system operations and strategies must relate the input and the preliminary confirmed goal, which might be the nugget diameter, welds classified results or others in general cases. A lot of nonlinearities, uncertainties, or mechanical elements affect the welding quality, hence, precisely establishing the model of the relation between input and output is difficult. This reason is the same as why no proper or general method to be proposed to online analyze RSW process or do NDT. In addition, because the welding time is so limited, control actions cannot be conducted in many times. In this section, firstly, the works which focused on optimizing the process parameters have been reviewed. These works analyzed the welding process and explored how the parameters affected the nugget formation and growth process, then used offline methods to optimize the process. However, the optimization cannot enough deal with the complexities and nonlinearity in real time, its applications were so limited. Secondly, the works which used the feedback control to improve the welding quality were reviewed. The works combined the characteristics of RSW process and nugget formation and growth, and many commonly employed control strategies were employed in reality. The control strategies included the traditional PID control and recent AI control methods. The methods were based on a lot of offline training and experiences, and some methods were so complex and required a lot of inputs, which limited the generality and university of the methods. In addition, the control actions generated from the control models may induce the system instability, because the quality estimation was accomplished and the



Fig. 19. Overall control scheme in the work.

control decision was made in the secondary coil of the transformer, while the control action was conducted in the primary coil, a tiny change in the second coil may induce large changes in the primary coil because the welding transformer was stepdown. Hence, relying on the decision made in the secondary coil to adjust the energy delivery in the primary coil may be difficult and can induce a lot of errors. Then two works, which combined online quality estimation and confirmed control strategy were presented for respectively three-phase medium frequency DC RSW machine and single-phase AC RSW machine. The constant current control strategies were conducted in both of two works, in the first work, though it used the results of online quality estimation, the current control strategy was confirmed and cannot be changed by the results; while in the second work, the results of online process analysis and quality estimation were just a sensor to determine when to terminate the energy delivery. However, preliminary knowledge or offline data training are still required under current circumstance. The designs were more general than those of previous works and can assure the stability of the control process and obtaining welding products with high quality, though there are some drawbacks existing in these two works. It can be seen that the real time control system design for RSW operation is still a big challenge issue in current academic research and practical industrial application.

#### 4. Conclusion

The recent advances of process analysis and guality control in RSW area have been reviewed in this paper. Online process analysis and non-destructive quality estimation are very important in RSW application because it can help to understand the process, and then take corresponding measures to reduce energy loss, improve the energy efficiency and weld quality, and reduce the costs of the production. It is derived from the exploration of the characteristics of RSW process, especially involving the nugget formation and growth features. Firstly, a lot of scholars employed mathematical analysis tools to interpret the RSW process and obtained some significant achievements. Though various models were presented, majority of models were based on the same principle and used the similar methods. That is, axisymmetric and thermal-electrical-mechanical models were employed to calculate the process, and display the important characteristics, such as temperature or current density distributions, magnetic variation, as well as the effects of process parameters on the nugget formation and growth process. However, under current circumstances, because the governing equation cannot sufficiently and exactly describe the phase change process, some important characteristics parameters cannot be precisely obtained. Also, some operational conditions, such as welding current in single-phase AC RSW machine, used approximate assumptions, the mathematical tools, mainly the FEM, had some limitations actually and cannot be precisely describe the process. Also, external monitoring tools, which included the digital high-speed camera, SEM, acoustic reflection, IR camera, PZT-based sensor, magnetic signals and so on, were employed. Though kinds of auxiliary measuring signals collected by majority of sensors can include enough information of the welds by means of preliminary models or data processing algorithms, some limitations cannot be avoided. Proper setting the sensors is so difficult, and the quality of the signals transmission is affected by various welding environment. Also, some experimental platforms are so complicate and many uncertainties elements exist in the measuring and analysis process. In addition, the information directly obtained from the sensors should be related to the characteristics of RSW process and nugget formation and growth, which require a lot of experimental data and offline training works. Moreover, the intrinsic process variables were also frequently employed to reflect the welding quality. Dynamic resistance, electrode displacement, which were the most commonly employed intrinsic variables, together with other variables, such as electrode force, electrode velocity, and so on, were combined various mathematical tools, such as kinds of neural networks or other data fitting methods to reflect the characteristics of RSW process. Though some remarkable achievements have been gained, the methods which used a lot of offline experiences and complex modeling methods lacks enough generality and could only be applied in limited occasions. In other words, it is difficult to extend the methods to general applications, no matter in process analysis or non-destructive quality estimation.

The goal of welding process control is obtaining welds with satisfactory quality by means of proper control actions. At the same time, the energy loss should be less and efficiency should be high. RSW control process is different from other common control systems. The process is absolutely unidirectional, because if the energy is delivered into the system, it cannot be removed. Also, the control action can be conducted in limited points, especially in the systems which employ the singlephase AC power source, so the accuracy of the system control is difficulty to be assured. Previous works employed various strategies and methods to achieve the goal. Firstly, some previous works focused on the operational parameters optimization. Apart from optimizing process variables to avoid negative phenomena, a lot of optimized parameters combinations, which were various welding lobe, were confirmed according to theoretical analyses or corresponding actual experiments. In addition, the works explored the effects of different parameters on welding quality, and then made corresponding adjustments or optimizations. Then to realize the feedback control, advanced control methods, such as PID tracking control, fuzzy logic control, and neuro-fuzzy control, were incorporated in the RSW operation, and gained some achievements. However, because the desired control goal was derived from or collected by limited experimental data, and offline data trainings were required. Each welding process involves a lot of special elements, the actual welding condition may not be the same as that when the offline data collection and training are conducted. In other words, the methods lack generality and has limitations in actual applications. Also, the control action for energy delivery in the primary coil of the welding transformer is affected by the predetermined control goal in the secondary coil of the transformer, which may deteriorate the stability of the system operation. Then two comprehensive control designs, which properly combined the online quality estimation and control strategies application, were presented. The works referred to respectively medium frequency DC RSW machine and singlephase AC RSW machine. Under the circumstances, two parts were effectively combined and could achieve more general design for the RSW control operation. The control action employed fixed control strategy and can guarantee the steady of energy delivery during the process, while the online quality estimation was used to optimize the performance of control strategy, or provided a signal of terminating the welding process.

According to review previous works in RSW related area, it is easily noticed that the amount of previous works dealing with online quality estimation or NDT including expulsion monitoring is extreme more than that of papers in other aspects of RSW related works, it may because the online quality estimation can be realized by means of different sensors or mathematical tools. As for other aspects, such as electrical structure and corresponding operations, materials characteristics analysis and control system design, the relative contributions were fewer. It may because that separately researching the electrical structure, process optimization or control system design were more difficult to obtain new significant achievements. However, based on above reviewing works, to achieve the goal of obtaining welds with satisfactory quality, different aspects should be comprehensively combined. For example, a general quality estimation or control system requires a stable energy delivery, which is provided by electrical structure. However, the variation of load resistance affects the consistency of energy delivery, and the knowledge is closely related to the metal melting and material characteristics variation. On the other hand, the quality estimation method requires materials characteristics, energy delivery features together with the application of reliable mathematical analyzing tools.

Because the RSW system is multi-field coupled and so complex, nonlinear and full of uncertainties, no matter in online process analysis and non-destructive quality estimation, or process control for obtaining products with high quality, there are some challenges in actual application. The general models which can eliminate the noises and disturbances have not been appeared so far. The majority of previous works were based on special working conditions or experimental conditions, or required many offline trainings or experts' experiences. In addition, because the surface differences between parent metal sheets are so large, and the welding condition also have differences, the reference models derived from previous experimental data have big limitations. Hence, it is expected that the important aspects for RSW researches will remain an active research items for a long time, especially in the general model of process analysis, quality estimation including NDT and online control system design. The future work should combine the characteristics of nugget formation and growth, as well as the operational features of RSW process, and consider the different parent metal size on the nugget formation and growth, and then establish general models which can avoid disturbances and cater to majority of occasions. Then the effective and general control system for stable RSW process and obtaining welds with satisfactory quality can be developed. This work can provide references and enlightens no matter in academic researches or actual production of RSW relative works.

#### Acknowledgements

This project is supported by Natural Science Foundation of China, China (Grant Nos.: 51605103, 51805099), the Foundation for Public Welfare Research and Capacity Building Project of Guangdong Province, China (2015A010104010), and Science and Technology Planning Project of Guangdong Province, China (2017B090914005).

#### References

- J. Robert, W. Messler, M. Jou, Review of control systems for resistance spot welding: past and current practices and emerging trends, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 1 (1) (1996) 1–9.
- [2] N. Akkas, Welding time effect on tensile-shear loading in resistance spot welding of SPA-H weathering steel sheets used in railway vehicle, Acta Phys. Pol. A 131 (1) (2017) 52–54.
- [3] Ó. Martín, P. Tiedra, M. San-Juan, Combined effect of resistance spot welding and precipitation hardening on tensile shear load bearing capacity of A286 superalloy, Mater. Sci. Eng., A 688 (2017) 309–314.
- [4] J. Bi, J. Song, Q. Wei, Y. Zhang, Y. Li, Z. Luo, Characteristics of shunting in resistance spot welding for dissimilar unequal-thickness aluminum alloys under large thickness ratio, Mater. Des. 101 (2016) 226–235.
- [5] D. Stavrov, H.E.N. Bersee, Resistance welding of thermoplastic composites an overview, Compos. A: Appl. Sci. Manuf. 36 (1) (2005) 39–54.
- [6] Y. Li, Z. Lin, Q. Shen, X. Lai, Numerical analysis of transport phenomena in resistance spot welding process, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. Trans. ASME 133 (3) (2011).
- [7] M. Pouranvari, S.P.H. Marashi, Critical review of automotive steels spot welding: process, structure and properties, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 18 (5) (2013) 361–403.
- [8] Z. Wan, H.-P. Wang, M. Wang, B.E. Carlson, D.R. Sigler, Numerical simulation of resistance spot welding of Al to zinc-coated steel with improved representation of contact interactions, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 101 (2016) 749–763.
- [9] N.T. Williams, J.D. Parker, Review of resistance spot welding of steel sheets part 1 modelling and control of weld nugget formation, Int. Mater. Rev. 49 (2) (2004) 45–75.
- [10] D.W. Dickinson, J.E. Franklin, A. Stanya, Characterization of spot welding behavior by dynamic electrical parameter monitoring, Weld. J. 59 (6) (1980) 170s–176s.
- [11] P.S. Wei, C.Y. Ho, Axisymmetric nugget growth during resistance spot welding, J. Heat Transf. 112 (1990) 309–316.
- [12] J. Kaars, P. Mayr, K. Koppe, Generalized dynamic transition resistance in spot welding of aluminized 22MnB5, Mater. Des. 106 (2016) 139–145.
   [13] K. Zhou, Development of an Online Quality Control System for Resistance Spot Welding (Ph.D), Mechanical Engineering, Hong Kong University of
- Science and Technology, Hong Kong, 2013. [14] Y. Cho, I.S. Chang, H.B. Lee, Single-sided resistance spot welding for auto body assembly, Weld. J. 85 (8) (2006) 26–29.
- [15] M. Matsushita, R. Ikeda, K. Oi, Development of a new program control setting of welding current and electrode force for single-side resistance spot welding, Weld. World 59 (4) (2015) 533-543.
- [16] C.P. Liang, Z.Q. Lin, G.L. Chen, Y.B. Li, Numerical analysis of single sided spot welding process used in sheet to tube joining, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 11 (5) (2006) 609–617.

- [17] M. Matsushita, R. Ikeda, K. Oi, Development of in-process welding current and electrode force control process for single-side resistance spot welding, JFE Tech. Rep. 20 (2015) 92–98.
- [18] Y. Cho, I.S. Chang, H.B. Lee, Advanced resistance spot welding technologies: new machine, adaptive control and FEM simulation, Mater. Sci. Forum 580–582 (2008) 367–370.
- [19] B.H. Chang, Y. Zhou, Numerical study on the effect of electrode force in small-scale resistance spot welding, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 139 (1–3) (2003) 635–641.
- [20] B.H. Chang, M.V. Li, Y. Zhou, Comparative study of small scale and 'large scale' resistance spot welding, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 6 (5) (2001) 273–280.
- [21] D. Zhao, Y. Wang, Z. Lin, S. Sheng, Quality monitoring research of small scale resistance spot welding based on voltage signal, ISIJ Int. 53 (2) (2013) 240–244.
- [22] J. Chen, D.F. Farson, K. Ely, T. Frech, Modeling small-scale resistance spot welding machine dynamics for process control, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 27 (7–8) (2006) 672–676.
- [23] W. Li, D. Cerjanec, G.A. Grzadzinski, A comparative study of single-phase AC and multiphase DC resistance spot welding, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. Trans. ASME 127 (3) (2005) 583–589.
- [24] S.C.A. Alfaro, J.E. Vargas, M.A. Wolff, L.O. Vilarinho, Comparison between AC and MF-DC resistance spot welding by using high speed filming, J. Achievements Mater. Manuf. Eng. 24 (1) (2007).
- [25] J. Yu, New methods of resistance spot welding using reference waveforms of welding power, Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf. 17 (10) (2016) 1313–1321.
   [26] W. Li, E. Feng, D. Cerjanec, G.A. Grzadzinski, Energy Consumption in AC and MFDC Resistance Spot Welding, The Proceedings of the Sheet Metal
- Welding Conference XI, Sterling Heights, 2004.
- [27] K. Zhou, P. Yao, Review of application of the electrical structure in resistance spot welding, IEEE Access 5 (2017) 25741-25749.
- [28] K. Zhou, P. Yao, Simulation of a uniform energy control strategy of single-phase AC resistance spot welding, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 94 (5-8) (2018) 1771-1779.
- [29] P. Podržaj, B. Jerman, S. Simončič, Poor fit-up condition in resistance spot welding, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 230 (2016) 21-25.
- [30] N.T. Williams, J.D. Parker, Review of resistance spot welding of steel sheets part 2 factors influencing electrode life, Int. Mater. Rev. 49 (2) (2004) 77-108.
- [31] W.J. Zhang, I. Cross, P. Feldman, S. Rama, S. Norman, M.D. Duca, Electrode life of aluminium resistance spot welding in automotive applications: a survey, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 22 (1) (2016) 1–19.
- [32] J. Wen, C.S. Wang, G.C. Xu, X.Q. Zhang, Real time monitoring weld quality of resistance spot welding for stainless steel, ISIJ Int. 49 (4) (2009) 553–556.
- [33] W. Li, S. Cheng, S.J. Hu, J. Shriver, Statistical investigation on resistance spot welding quality using a two-state, sliding-level experiment, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. 123 (8) (2001) 513–520.
- [34] M. Hamedi, M. Atashparva, A review of electrical contact resistance modeling in resistance spot welding, Weld. World 61 (2) (2017) 269–290.
- [35] A.E. Ouafi, R. Bélanger, J.-F. Méthot, An On-line ANN-based approach for quality estimation in resistance spot welding, Adv. Mater. Res. 112 (5) (2010) 141–148.
- [36] S.K. Vshwakarma, A. Shrivastava, S. Singh, Optimization of resistance spot welding parameters using Taguchi method, Int. J. Adv. Res. Ideas Innov. Technol. 3 (3) (2017) 506–513.
- [37] J. Senkara, H. Zhang, S.J. Hu, Expulsion prediction in resistance spot welding, Weld. J. 84 (4) (2004) 123s–132s.
- [38] W. Mei, Finite Element Modeling of Resistance Spot Welding and Nugget Properties Prediction (Master), Mechanical Engineering, Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, 2009.
- [39] I. latcheva, D. Darzhanova, M. Manilova, Modeling of electric and heat processes in spot resistance welding of cross-wire steel bars, Open Phys. 16 (1) (2018) 1-8.
- [40] H. Eisazadeh, M. Hamedi, A. Halvaee, New parametric study of nugget size in resistance spot welding process using finite element method, Mater. Des. 31 (1) (2010) 149–157.
- [41] Y.B. Li, Z.Q. Lin, S.J. Hu, G.L. Chen, Numerical analysis of magnetic fluid dynamics behaviors during resistance spot welding, J. Appl. Phys. 101 (2007), pp. 053506.1-10.
- [42] P. Chigurupati, B.K. Chun, A. Bandar, W.T. Wu, Finite element modeling of resistance spot welding process, Int. J. Mater. Form. 3 (Suppl. 1) (2010) 991– 994.
- [43] M. Vural, Finite element analysis of the thermo-mechanical behavior of the resistance spot welding, Usak Univ. J. Mater. Sci. 1 (2013) 31-44.
- [44] J.A. Khan, K. Broach, Numerical thermal model of resistance spot welding in aluminum, J. Thermophys. Heat Transfer 14 (1) (2000) 88–95.
- [45] I.R. Nodeh, S. Serajzadeh, A.H. Kokabi, Simulation of welding residual stresses in resistance spot welding, FE modeling and X-ray verification, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 205 (2008) 60–69.
- [46] P.S. Wei, T.H. Wu, S.S. Hsieh, Phase change effects on transport processes in resistance spot welding, J. Mech. 27 (1) (2011) 19–26.
- [47] P.S. Wei, T.H. Wu, Workpiece property effects on nugget microstructure determined by heat transfer and solidification rate during resistance spot welding, Int. J. Therm. Sci. 86 (2014) 421–429.
- [48] N.A. Nazri, M.S.M. Sani, Finite element normal mode analysis of resistance welding jointed of dissimilar plate hat structure, The 4th International Conference on Mechanical Engineering Research (ICMER2017), 2017.
- [49] M. Palmonella, M.I. Friswell, J.E. Mottershead, A. Lees, Guidelines for the implementation of the CWELD and ACM2 spot weld models in structural dynamics, Finite Elem. Anal. Des. 41 (2004) 193–210.
- [50] D.M. Junqueira, M.E. Silveira, A.C. Ancelotti, Analysis of spot weld distribution in a weldment—numerical simulation and topology optimization, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 95 (9–12) (2018) 4071–7079.
- [51] Y.H.P. Manurung, N. Muhammad, E. Haruman, S.K. Abas, G. Tham, K.M. Salleh, C.Y. Chau, Investigation on weld nugget and HAZ development of resistance spot welding using SYSWELD's customized electrode meshing and experimental verification, Asian J. Ind. Eng. 2 (2010) 63–71.
- [52] Z. Mikno, S. Kowieski, W. Zhang, Simulation and optimisation of resistance welding using the SORPAS® software programme, Biuletyn Instytutu Spawalnictwa 4 (2016) 13–22.
- [53] C.V. Nielsen, W. Zhang, 3D simulation of resistance welding processes and weld strength testing, Presented at the Simulations forum 2013, Schweissen und Wärmebehandlung, 2013.
- [54] K. Zhou, L. Cai, A nonlinear current control method for resistance spot welding, IEEE/ASME Trans. Mechatronics 19 (2) (2014) 559-569.
- [55] S. Lee, J. Namb, W. Hwangb, J. Kimb, B. Leec, A study on integrity assessment of the resistance spot weld by infrared thermography, Proc. Eng. 10 (2011) 1748–1753.
- [56] Y. Ma, P. Wu, C. Xuan, Y. Zhang, H. Su, Review on techniques for on-line monitoring of resistance spot welding process, Adv. Mater. Sci. Eng. 2013 (2013) 1–6.
- [57] Y. Cho, S. Rhee, Experimental study of nugget formation in resistance spot welding, Weld. J. 82 (8) (2003) 195s-201s.
- [58] W. Tan, Y. Zhou, H.W. Kerr, S. Lawson, A study of dynamic resistance during small scale resistance spot welding of thin Ni sheets, J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 37 (14) (2004) 1998–2008.
- [59] A.C. Karloff, A.M. Chertov, R.G. Maev, Enhancing Real-time ultrasound signatures of molten nugget growth for quality evaluation of resistance spot welds, in: Ultrasonics Symposium (IUS), 2009 IEEE International, 2009, pp. 1533–1536.
- [60] A.M. Chertov, R.G. Maev, F.M. Severin, Acoustic microscopy of internal structure of resistance spot welds, Control IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. 54 (8) (2007) 1521–1529.
- [61] J. Liu, G. Xu, L. Ren, Z. Qian, L. Ren, Defect intelligent identification in resistance spot welding ultrasonic detection based on wavelet packet and neural network, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 70 (9–12) (2017) 2581–2588.

- [62] P. Podržaj, I. Polajnar, J. Diaci, Z. Kariž, Estimating the strength of resistance spot welds based on sonic emission, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 10 (4) (2005) 399–405.
- [63] J. Chen, Z. Feng, IR-based spot weld NDT in automotive applications, in: SPIE Sensing Technology+Applications, International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2015, pp. 948513.1–948513.6.
- [64] J. Chen, Z. Feng, Online resistance spot weld NDE using infrared thermography, in: Nondestructive Characterization and Monitoring of Advanced Materials, Aerospace, and Civil Infrastructure 2017, 2017, pp. 101690K-1–301690K-7.
- [65] W. Woo, C.W. Chin, Z. Feng, H. Wang, W. Zhang, H. Xu, P.S. Sklad, Application of infrared imaging for quality inspection in resistance spot welds, Proc. SPIE (2009), pp. 729912-1-10.
- [66] P. Yao, B. Zheng, M. Dawood, L. Huo, G. Song, Real time monitoring of spot-welded joints under service load using lead zirconate titanate (PZT) transducers, Smart Mater. Struct. 26 (3) (2017), pp. 035059.1-13.
- [67] P. Yao, Q. Kong, K. Xu, T. Jiang, L.-S. Huo, G. Song, Structural health monitoring of multi-spot welded joints using a lead zirconate titanate based active sensing approach, Smart Mater. Struct. 25 (1) (2016), pp. 015031.1-10.
- [68] D. Harada, K. Sakai, T. Kiwa, K. Tsukada, Analysis of the internal structure of a spot-weld by magnetic measurement, The Singapore International NDT Conference & Exhibition, Singapore, 2013.
- [69] K. Tsukada, Mitsuteru Yoshioka, Toshihiko Kiwa, Yoshinobu Hirano, Magnetic flux leakage method using a magnetoresistive sensor for nondestructive evaluation of spot welds, NDT&E Int. 44 (2011) 101–105.
- [70] K. Tsukada, K. Miyake, D. Harada, K. Sakai, T. Kiwa, Magnetic nondestructive test for resistance spot welds using magnetic flux penetration and eddy current methods, J. Nondestr. Eval. 32 (2013) 286–293.
- [71] G. Vértesya, I. Tomášb, Nondestructive magnetic inspection of spot welding, NDT&E Int. 98 (2018) 95-100.
- [72] S. Gedeon, C. Sorensen, K. Ulrich, T. Eagar, Measurement of dynamic electrical and mechanical properties of resistance spot welds, Weld. J. 66 (2) (1987) 378s-385s.
- [73] K. Zhou, T. Shi, L. Cai, Online measuring the electrical resistivity of molten nugget of stainless steel in resistance spot welding, J. Manuf. Process. 28 (2017) 109–115.
- [74] P. Podržaj, I. Polajnar, J. Diaci, Z. Kariž, Overview of resistance spot welding control, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 13 (3) (2008) 215-224.
- [75] S.A. Gedeon, T.W. Eagar, Resistance spot welding of galvanized steel: Part II. Mechanisms of spot weld nugget formation, Metall. Trans. B 17 (4) (1986) 887–901.
- [76] O.L.-R. Ighodaro, E. Biro, Y.N. Zhou, Study and applications of dynamic resistance profiles during resistance spot welding of coated hot-stamping steels, Metall. Mater. Trans. A 48 (2) (2016) 1–14.
- [77] Y. Luo, W. Rui, X. Xie, Y. Zhu, Study on the nugget growth in single-phase AC resistance spot welding based on the calculation of dynamic resistance, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 229 (2016) 492–500.
- [78] Y. Cho, S. Rhee, New technology for measuring dynamic resistance and estimating strength in resistance spot welding, Meas. Sci. Technol. 11 (8) (2000) 1173–1178.
- [79] Y. Cho, S. Rhee, Primary circuit dynamic resistance monitoring and its application to quality estimation during resistance spot welding, Welding J. 81 (6) (2002) 104s-111s.
- [80] Y. Cho, S. Rhee, Quality estimation of resistance spot welding by using pattern recognition with neural networks, IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas. 53 (2) (2004) 330–334.
- [81] M. El-Banna, D. Files, R.B. Chinnam, Online qualitative nugget classification by using a linear vector quantization neural network for resistance spot welding, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 36 (2008) 237–248.
- [82] S. Zhu, Z. Zhang, Q. Li, Y. Xia, X. Tian, New technology for measuring resistance of electrical contact and estimating welding quality, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 21 (3) (2016) 201–208.
- [83] Y. Luo, R. Wan, Z. Yang, X. Xie, Study on the thermo-effect of nugget growing in single-phase AC resistance spot welding based on the calculation of dynamic resistance, Measurement 78 (2016) 18–28.
- [84] B. Xing, Y. Xiao, Q.H. Qin, H. Cui, Quality Assessment of resistance spot welding process based on dynamic resistance signal and random forest based, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 94 (1-4) (2018) 327-339.
- [85] X. Wan, Y. Wand, D. Zhao, Quality estimation in small scale resistance spot welding of titanium alloy based on dynamic electrical signals, ISIJ Int. 58 (4) (2018) 721–726.
- [86] Y. Zhang, G. Chen, Z. Lin, Study on weld quality control of resistance spot welding using a Neuro-Fuzzy algorithm, Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. 3215 (2004) 544–550.
- [87] X. Lai, X. Zhang, Y. Zhang, G. Chen, Weld quality inspection based on online measured indentation from servo encoder in resistance spot welding, IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas. 56 (4) (2007) 1501–1505.
- [88] Y.S. Zhang, X.Y. Zhang, X.M. Lai, G.L. Chen, Online quality inspection of resistance spot welded joint based on electrode indentation using servo gun, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 12 (5) (2007) 449–454.
- [89] H. Zhang, Y. Hou, Quality estimation of the resistance spot welding based on genetic K-means cluster analysis, in: Control, Automation and Systems Engineering (CASE) International Conference on 2011, 2011, pp. 1–4.
- [90] H. Zhang, Y. Hou, J. Zhang, X. Qi, F. Wang, A new method for nondestructive quality evaluation of the resistance spot welding based on the radar chart method and the decision tree classifier, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 78 (5) (2015) 841–851.
- [91] L. Gong, C.-L. Liu, Y.-M. Li, Control criteria determination and quality inference for resistance spot welding through monitoring the electrode displacement using bayesian belief networks, J. Adv. Mech. Des. Syst. Manuf. 6 (4) (2012) 432–444.
- [92] H. Zhang, F. Wang, T. Xi, J. Zhao, L. Wang, W. Gao, A novel quality evaluation method for resistance spot welding based on the electrode displacement signal and the Chernoff faces technique, Mech. Syst. Signal. Process. 62–63 (2015) 431–443.
- [93] H. Zhang, Y. Hou, J. Zhao, L. Wang, T. Xi, Y. Li, Automatic welding quality classification for the spot welding based on the hopfield associative memory neural network and Chernoff face description of the electrode displacement signal features, Mech. Syst. Sig. Process. 85 (2017) 1035–1043.
- [94] Y.J. Park, H. Cho, Quality evaluation by classification of electrode force patterns in the resistance spot welding process using neural networks, Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng., Part B: J. Eng. Manuf. 218 (11) (2004) 1513–1524.
- [95] H. Zhang, Y. Hou, T. Yang, Q. Zhang, J. Zhao, Welding quality evaluation of resistance spot welding using the time-varying inductive reactance signal, Meas. Sci. Technol. 29 (5) (2018), pp. 055601.1-13.
- [96] J. Yu, Quality estimation of resistance spot weld based on logistic regression analysis of welding power signal, Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf. 16 (13) (2015) 2655–2663.
- [97] W. Li, S.J. Hu, J. Ni, On-line quality estimation in resistance spot welding, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. 122 (2000) 511-512.
- [98] S. Chen, T. Sun, X. Jiang, J. Qi, R. Zeng, Online monitoring and evaluation of the weld quality of resistance spot welded titanium alloy, J. Manuf. Process. 23 (2016) 183–191.
- [99] L. Deng, C. Ji, An evaluating model of nugget size for resistance spot welding, in: 2013 2nd International Conference on Measurement, Information and Control, Harbin, China, 2013, pp. 711–714.
- [100] X. Wan, Y. Wang, D. Zhao, Y. Huang, A comparison of two types of neural network for weld quality prediction in small scale resistance spot welding, Mech. Syst. Signal. Process. 93 (2017) 634–644.
- [101] Ó. Martín, V. Ahedo, J.I. Santos, P. DeTiedra, J.M. Galán, Quality assessment of resistance spot welding joints of AISI304 stainless steel based on elastic nets, Mater. Sci. Eng., A 676 (2016) 173–181.
- [102] M. Pereda, J.I. Santos, Ó. Martín, J.M. Galán, Direct quality prediction in resistance spot welding process: sensitivity, specificity and predictive accuracy comparative analysis, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 20 (8) (2015) 679–685.

- [103] P. Podržaj, I. Polajnar, J. Diaci, Z. Kariž, Expulsion detection system for resistance spot welding based on a neural network, Meas. Sci. Technol. 15 (3) (2004) 592–598.
- [104] P. Podržaj, I. Polajnar, J. Diaci, Z. Kariž, Influence of welding current shape on expulsion and weld strength of resistance spot welds, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 11 (3) (2006) 250–254.
- [105] D.F. Farson, J.Z. Chen, K. Ely, T. Frech, Monitoring of expulsion in small scale resistance spot welding, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 8 (6) (2003) 431–436.
- [106] H. Zhang, S.J. Hu, J. Senkara, S. Cheng, A statistical analysis of expulsion limits in resistance spot welding, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. 122 (8) (2000) 501–510.
- [107] C.S. Chien, J.E. Kannatey-Asibu, Investigation of monitoring systems for resistance spot welding, Weld. J. 81 (9) (2002) 195s-199s.
- [108] J.D. Cullen, N. Athi, M. Al-Jader, P. Johnson, A.I. Al-Shamma'a, A. Shaw, A.M.A. El-Rasheed, Multisensor fusion for on line monitoring of the quality of spot welding in automotive industry, Measurement 41 (4) (2008) 412–423.
- [109] Y.B. Li, D.L. Li, Z.Q. Lin, S.A. David, Z. Feng, W. Tang, Review: magnetically assisted resistance spot welding, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 21 (1) (2016) 59– 74.
- [110] Q. Shen, Y. Li, Z. Lin, G. Chen, Impact of external magnetic field on weld quality of resistance spot welding, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng., Trans. ASME 33 (5) (2011), pp. 051001-1-7.
- [111] E.W. Kim, T.W. Eagar, Parametric analysis of resistance spot welding lobe curve, Presented at the International Congress and Exposition, Detroit Michigan, 1988.
- [112] R.B. Hirsch, Tip force control equals spot weld quality, Weld. J. 72 (3) (1993) 57-60.
- [113] K. Zhou, L. Cai, Study on effect of electrode force on resistance spot welding process, J. Appl. Phys. 116 (8) (2014), 084902.1-7.
- [114] H. Tang, W. Hou, S.J. Hu, H. Zhang, Force characteristics of resistance spot welding of steels, Weld. J. 79 (7) (2000) 175s-183s.
- [115] K. Zhou, L. Cai, On the development of nugget growth model for resistance spot welding, J. Appl. Phys. 115 (2014), 64901.1-12.
- [116] T.P. Kasih, I.T. Pambudi, B. Santoso, Determination of optimal resistance spot welding parameter on low carbon steel welding quality, in: 2014 2nd International Conference on Technology, Informatics, Management, Engineering & Environment, Bandung, Indonesia, 2014, pp. 75–79.
- [117] W.H. Zhang, X.M. Qiu, D.Q. Sun, L.J. Han, Effects of resistance spot welding parameters on microstructures and mechanical properties of dissimilar material joints of galvanised high strength steel and aluminium alloy, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 16 (2) (2011) 153–161.
- [118] X. Wan, Y. Wang, P. Zhang, Modelling the effect of welding current on resistance spot welding of DP600 steel, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 214 (2014) 2723-2729.
- [119] K. Vignesh, A.E. Perumal, P. Velmurugan, Optimization of resistance spot welding process parameters and microstructural examination for dissimilar welding of AISI 316L austenitic stainless steel and 2205 duplex stainless steel, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 93 (1–4) (2017) 455–465.
- [120] A. Md, I.-D. Choi, J.-W. Kim, D.-G. Nam, Y.-D. Park, Effect of initial (reference) welding current for adaptive control and it's optimization to secure proper weld properties in resistance spot welding, J. Weld. Join. 33 (6) (2015) 13–20.
- [121] S. Aslanlar, A. Ogur, U. Ozsarac, E. Ilhan, Welding time effect on mechanical properties of automotive sheets in electrical resistance spot welding, Mater. Des. 29 (7) (2008) 1427–1431.
- [122] H.C. Lin, C.A. Hsu, C.S. Lee, T.Y. Kuo, S.L. Jeng, Effects of zinc layer thickness on resistance spot welding of galvanized mild steel, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 251 (2018) 205–213.
- [123] H.T. Sun, X.M. Lai, Y.S. Zhang, J. Shen, Effect of variable electrode force on weld quality in resistance spot welding, Sci. Technol. Weld. Join. 12 (8) (2007) 688-694.
- [124] D. Venugopal, M. Das, V. Fernandez, Study and implementation of a force stepper and a part fit-up solver algorithm for a servo controlled mfdc spot welder, in: Electro/Information Technology, 2009. eit '09 IEEE International Conference on, 2009, pp. 286–291.
- [125] C.T. Ji, Y. Zhou, Dynamic electrode force and displacement in resistance spot welding of aluminum, J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. 126 (8) (2004) 605-610.
- [126] H. Tang, W. Hou, S.J. Hu, H.Y. Zhang, Z. Feng, M. Kimchi, Influence of welding machine mechanical characteristics on the resistance spot welding process and weld quality, Weld. J. 82 (5) (2003) 116s–124s.
- [127] L. Dorn, P. Xu, Influence of the mechanical properties of resistance welding machines on the quality of spot welding, Weld. Cutt. 1 (1993) 12–16.
- [128] A.V. Dennison, D.J. Toncich, S. Masood, Control and process-based optimisation of spot-welding in manufacturing systems, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 13 (4) (1997) 256–263.
- [129] K. Zhou, P. Yao, L. Cai, Constant current vs. constant power control in AC resistance spot welding, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 223 (2015) 299–304.
   [130] Beno Klopčič, M. Drago Dolinar, G. Štumberger, Analysis of an Inverter-supplied multi-winding transformer with a full-wave rectifier at the output, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 320 (20) (2008) e929–e934.
- [131] B. Klopčič, D. Dolinar, G. Štumberger, Advanced control of a resistance spot welding system, IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. 23 (1) (2008) 144–152.
- [132] H.S. Cho, D.W. Chun, A Microprocessor-based electrode movement controller for spot weld quality assurance, IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. 32 (3) (1985) 234–238.
- [133] H.S. Chang, Y.J. Cho, S.G. Choi, H.S. Cho, A proportional-integral controller for resistance spot welding using nugget expansion, Trans. ASME J. Dyn. Syst. Meas. Control 111 (1989) 332–336.
- [134] K. Haefner, B. Carey, B. Bernstein, K. Overton, M. D'Andrea, Real time adaptive spot welding control, Trans. ASME J. Dyn. Syst. Meas. Control 113 (1) (1991) 104–112.
- [135] Y.J. Won, H.S. Cho, C.W. Lee, A microprocessor-based control system for resistance spot welding process, in: American Control Conference 1983, 1983, pp. 734–738.
- [136] K. Araki, X. Chen, J. Chen, Y. Ishino, T. Mizuno, Application of a Model Reference Fuzzy Adaptive Control to the Spot Welding System, in: SICE '96. Proceedings of the 35th SICE Annual Conference, 1996, pp. 1139–1144.
- [137] X. Chen, K. Araki, Fuzzy adaptive process control of resistance spot welding with a current reference model, in: Intelligent Processing Systems, IEEE International Conference on, 1997, pp. 190–194.
- [138] L.P. Khoo, H.Y. Young, A prototype fuzzy resistance spot welding system, Int. J. Prod. Res. 33 (7) (1995) 2023–2036.
- [139] P. Podržaj, S. Simončič, Resistance spot welding control based on fuzzy logic, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 52 (9-12) (2011) 959-967.
- [140] J. Robert, W. Messler, M. Jou, C.J. Li, "An intelligent control system for resistance spot welding using a neural network and fuzzy logic, in: IEEE Industry Applications Conference, 1995, pp. 1757–1763.
- [141] Y.S. Zhang, G.L. Chen, A neuro-fuzzy approach to part fitup fault control during resistance spot welding using servo gun, Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. 3612 (2005) 1060–1068.
- [142] M. El-Banna, D. Filev, R.B. Chinnam, Intelligent constant current control for resistance spot welding, in: IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, Sheraton Vancouver Wall Centre Hotel, Vancouver, BC, Canada, 2006, pp. 1570–1577.
- [143] K. Zhou, L. Cai, Online nugget diameter control system for resistance spot welding, Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 68 (9–12) (2013) 2571–2588.